

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

The Impact of Financial Education on the Lives of Cherokee Nation Citizens

Ron Pense Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Ronald Gene Pense II

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Steven Tippins, Committee Chairperson, Management Faculty Dr. Mohammad Sharifzadeh, Committee Member, Management Faculty Dr. Aridaman Jain, University Reviewer, Management Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

The Impact of Financial Education on the Lives of Cherokee Nation Citizens

by

Ronald Gene Pense II

MPhil, Walden University, 2019 MBA, Philadelphia University, 2003 BS, University of Arkansas, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

August 2021

Abstract

Financial literacy is something that is important for financial well-being for individuals, but it is lacking, leading to problems such as inadequate saving and poor financial decision making. This research was conducted to examine the impact of financial education for citizens of Cherokee Nation on saving and financial decision making and was grounded in prospect theory and quasi-rational economics. Accordingly, the research questions focused on the extent of differences between individuals with and without financial education for decision making and saving as well as the extent demographic factors play a role. The research design was non-experimental causal comparative with financial literacy and saving data gathered from a survey instrument via mail in the 14county jurisdiction of Cherokee Nation. To be included in the study participants had to be citizens of Cherokee Nation. The total sample size for the study was 302 with participants placed into groups of those who had financial education or did not. Differences between these groups for the number of financial literacy questions that were answered correctly, and reported savings behavior were analyzed with chi-squared tests for differences of means, independent samples t tests, multiple regression analyses, and multinomial logistic regression analyses. Results of the study indicated that financial education leads to an increase in saving and better financial knowledge and decision making and that demographic factors play a role. This research has implications for positive social change as it can be used to create financial education programs that will lead to better financial well-being for Cherokee Nation citizens as well as greater resources for Cherokee Nation to use in the community from a reduced need for economic assistance programs.

The Impact of Financial Education on the Lives of Cherokee Nation Citizens

by

Ronald Gene Pense II

MPhil, Walden University, 2019 MBA, Philadelphia University, 2003 BS, University of Arkansas, 2002

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Management

Walden University

August 2021

Dedication

This scholarly work is dedicated to Cherokee Nation. It is hoped that the information presented here may be of some use for the mission of improving the quality of life for the next seven generations of Cherokee Nation citizens. Gadugi. Wado.

Acknowledgments

To prevent myself from spending many years trying to figure out how to write the perfect Acknowledgments page, I will instead endeavor to keep this as brief as possible. First, I wish to thank my dissertation committee. Their guidance was instrumental in helping me to reach this point. Committee member Dr. Mohammad Sharifzadeh and university research reviewer Dr. Aridaman Jain both served with wisdom and provided me with greatly beneficial assistance when needed. My chair and mentor Dr. Steven Tippins went above and beyond to help me with everything during my entire doctoral journey. Second, I wish to thank my form and style review editor Angie Drennen for providing guidance for revisions to improve my work and my advisor Dr. Richard Hay for providing support for all administrative issues during my journey. Finally, to all my family, friends, colleagues, acquaintances, and others with whom I have interacted along the way, there is no way I can thank all of you enough, but all of you know who you are and how you have helped me tremendously. Thank you very much.

List of Tablesv
List of Figures vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background of the Study1
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Theoretical Foundation
Conceptual Framework
Nature of the Study
Definitions10
Assumptions11
Scope and Delimitations
Limitations12
Significance of the Study
Significance to Theory
Significance to Practice
Significance to Social Change14
Summary and Transition14
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Literature Search Strategy17

Table of Contents

heoretical Foundation	18
iterature Review	23
Financial Literacy	23
Financial Education	25
Savings Levels	28
Investing	29
Financial Markets & Products	30
Spending & Consumption	31
Debt Amount	32
Assets Held	34
Employment	35
Income Levels	37
Wealth Amounts	38
Generations	38
Life Cycle	39
Relationships	41
General Education	42
Policies	42
Society Factors	44
Demographics	45
Minorities	47
Cherokee	47

Summary and Conclusions	48
Chapter 3: Research Method	50
Research Design and Rationale	50
Methodology	52
Population	52
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	53
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection (Primary	
Data)	54
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	55
Data Analysis Plan	57
Threats to Validity	61
External Validity	61
Internal Validity	61
Construct Validity	63
Ethical Procedures	63
Summary	65
Chapter 4: Results	67
Data Collection	67
Study Results	72
RQ1: To What Extent Does Financial Education Affect Individual	
Savings?	72

RQ2: To What Extent Does Financial Education Affect Financial Planning
and Decision-Making?76
RQ3: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Financial Planning
and Decision-Making?77
RQ4: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Financial Planning
and Decision-Making After Financial Education?
RQ5: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Savings? 81
RQ6: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Savings After
Financial Education?
Summary
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations
Interpretation of Findings85
Limitations of the Study90
Recommendations
Implications
Conclusions
References
Appendix A: Survey Questions
Appendix B: Lusardi & Mitchell Permission
Appendix C: FINRA Investor Education Permission

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics for Study Sample	68
Table 2. Yes or No Responses Regarding Demographics	69
Table 3. Average Total Number of Financial Knowledge and Decision-Making	
Questions Answered Correctly	71
Table 4. Financial Education Impact on Spending Versus Income for the Last	
Year	72
Table 5. Financial Education Impact on Emergency Funds	73
Table 6. Financial Education Impact on Savings Accounts	73
Table 7. Financial Education Impact on Employer Sponsored Retirement	
Accounts	74
Table 8. Financial Education Impact on Non-Employer Sponsored Retirement	
Accounts	74
Table 9. Financial Education Impact on Retirement Contributions	75
Table 10. Financial Education Impact on Non-Retirement Investments	75
Table 11. Regression Coefficients for Demographics for Individuals without	
Financial Education	77
Table 12. Regression Coefficients for Age and Education Level for Individuals	
without Financial Education	78
Table 14. Regression Coefficients for Demographics for Individuals with	
Financial Education	79

Table 14. Regression Coefficients for Gender, Age, and Income for Individuals	
with Financial Education	81
Table 15. Impact of Income on Spending Vs Income for the Last Year for	
Individuals with Financial Education	83

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Financial	Education	Framework	10
-----------	-----------	-----------	-----------	----

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

This study dealt with financial literacy and the impact of financial education. I focused on a population group in society that has yet to be substantially analyzed regarding these issues: citizens of the Cherokee Nation. The study was focused on aspects related to individuals and financial education, including demographic factors for Cherokee citizens.

This chapter contains the background of the study, problem statement, purpose of the study, research questions and hypothesis, theoretical foundation, conceptual framework, nature of the study, definitions, assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and the significance of the study. The background of the study discusses the relevance of financial education and its impacts that have been analyzed, including both benefits and potential drawbacks. The problem statement lays out the lack of understanding of Cherokee Nation citizens and the need that they have for improvements in financial literacy. The Theoretical Foundation and Conceptual Framework sections explain the details behind how financial education is believed to impact financial knowledge and ability of individuals. The remaining sections of the chapter include a discussion on key terms for the study, and things that are understood as well as limits of the study, such as factors related to time, scale, and scope. The chapter ends with a summary.

Background of the Study

Financial education is something that has been discussed regarding potential benefits and drawbacks. There are many complex parts of financial education, including

different financial and social aspects that interact with individual and societal factors. The discussion is not merely about providing education, but also there is a need to affect personal behavior as well (Hensley, 2015). Further, overall general financial knowledge has many benefits for individuals, but specialist areas of finance such as investments should be left to professionals (Alsemgeest, 2015).

The primary purpose of financial education is to improve financial outcomes for individuals, such as retirement planning and household wealth. Greater financial knowledge results in improved financial decision making with regard to things such as investment choices (Hibbert et al., 2012). In general, financial education can lead to greater financial knowledge, literacy, and awareness, which in turn should lead to better financial decision-making ability as well as actual choices and actions regarding financial matters for individuals in the modern economic environment (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014). Thus, financial education has an impact on savings rates for individuals (Grinstein-Weiss et al., 2015). Financial education can also improve wealth accumulation when controlling for other factors such as demographics (van Rooij et al., 2012). Conversely, a lack of financial education tends to lead to greater economic problems for individuals (Hastings et al., 2013).

Though financial education has potential benefits, there are issues regarding its implementation. It is not clear which objectives should be included or how and when they should be included. According to Fraczek (2014) the next stages of implementing financial education can only happen when there is an established hierarchy of priorities to be included within financial education. Evaluation and timing of programs are also concerns. The timing of when financial education is given as well as the tools needed to properly evaluate programs are areas that need more work in order to advance the goals of financial education (Collins & Odders-White, 2015). For instance, though financial education had little impact, research has shown that greater mathematics education in high school led to greater financial outcome results for individuals (Cole et al., 2016), which includes improved financial ability, particularly with usage of credit cards (Agarwal & Mazumder, 2013). Others have suggested that optimal time for financial education appears to be when individuals reach higher education (Geddes & Steen, 2016). At the stage of higher education, individuals are almost ready to fully assume future careers and thus are in need of financial education (Jobst, 2012).

In addition to timing, a major factor that impacts the financial ability of individuals is the various relationships they have during their lives. Factors that impact individual financial knowledge, ability, and behavior appear to be directly correlated in many instances with key lifetime relationships such as the education system. However, it is perhaps family relationships, particularly the experience and knowledge of parents, that are most important for financial education (Grohmann & Menkhoff, 2015; Tang & Peter, 2015). Education and parents can combine to impact individual financial knowledge and ability (Grohmann & Menkhoff, 2015).

It is also important that financial education be analyzed with regard to its ability to impact behavior. Financial education seems to impact perception and behavior (Anderson & Card, 2015). Financial education can increase one fundamental key aspect of financial decision making: financial participation, such as savings and investing (Cole et al., 2014). But financial education needs to address the various psychological aspects of things such as investing (West, 2012). It is also not clear if greater financial knowledge results in improved behavior (Hensley, 2015).

Another consideration for financial education is its real-world application. One of the areas where financial education is both easy and immediately relevant for implementation is the work environment. It is with employment that individuals often must make important decisions (or at least have the opportunity to do so) with regard to things such as retirement savings. When financial education is included at work, individuals are significantly more likely to have positive financial behaviors such as budgeting and increased financial retirement plan contributions (Prawitz & Cohart, 2014). For financial education to be effective, the environment has to align, allowing individuals to apply the concepts they learned.

There is an increased need for understanding of global aspects of financial education. Financial literacy is low in many countries, and there is a need for financial education (Fraczek, 2014). A structured approach could help not only domestically but internationally as well. The most important aspects leading to improvement include lifelong learning and education focused on individual needs (Marta-Christina & Liana, 2013). This study was therefore conducted to improve understanding of the impact of financial education on the lives of individuals.

Problem Statement

This study focused on the problem of financial literacy and the large gap in capability levels with a minority in the United States—citizens of the Cherokee Nation.

When it comes to financial stability and wealth accumulation and management, financial literacy is important for decision making (Lusardi & Mitchell, 2014; Saboe-Wounded Head, 2014). However, research has shown that Native American students performed worse than other groups in financial literacy with a mean score of 37.7 and 88.8% failing compared to a mean score of 41.3 and 89.1% failing for African American students, a mean score of 45.1 and 83.4% failing for Hispanic American students, a mean score of 45.1 and 83.4% failing for Hispanic American students, a mean score of 47.2 and 77.2% failing for Asian American students, and a mean score of 52.5 and 64.4% failing for White students (Mandell, 2008). More recent surveys have also shown lower levels of financial capability for Native Americans, with 27% being highly financially literate (Dewees & Mottola, 2017). In addition, financial knowledge confidence levels or an individual's beliefs about their own financial knowledge were lower for Native Americans at 65% compared to 74% for African Americans, 75% for both Hispanics and Asian Americans, and 77% for Whites (Dewees & Mottola, 2017).

There is a need for improving the levels of financial literacy as well as improving financial decision making for many individuals (Collins & Odders-White, 2015). But one key to its effectiveness is to improve its objectives regarding how they are implemented in a system (Frączek, 2014). Research has indicated that there is a strong correlation with the ability of individuals and the financial understanding of people who play key roles in their lives, particularly parents (Tang & Peter, 2015). Demographic factors of financial literacy have also been examined regarding factors such as geography (Bumcrot et al., 2013) and age groups (Henager & Cude, 2016). The general management problem

examined in this study is how to improve financial knowledge and financial capability for the general population.

The specific problem that was studied with this research is how financial education impacts Cherokee Nation citizens' financial literacy, savings, and financial decision making. There has been little to no research on this topic regarding this demographic segment of society, and it is likely that as with other Native American groups (Mandell, 2008), there are significantly low levels of financial literacy. This research may enhance understanding that can improve low levels of financial literacy for Native Americans in general and Cherokee Nation citizens specifically. This information could also help policy decision makers in general and for Cherokee Nation. Cherokee Nation decision makers could use this information for improving any existing programs for promoting and enhancing financial security for individual citizens of Cherokee Nation or for creating any potential additional programs. The information from this study could also be used by decision makers that represent groups of individuals who are Cherokee but are not part of the Cherokee Nation for the same purpose.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to further examine the effects of financial education with regard to financial understanding and decision making as it applies to citizens of the Cherokee Nation. Previous studies have examined financial education with regard to minorities but have not looked at Cherokee Nation citizens nor examined full effects on financial decision making for all ages or backgrounds (Barcellos, 2016; Saboe-Wounded Head, 2014). To address this gap, I conducted this quantitative study with multiple groups and survey instruments for data collection. The approach for this study was derived from previous works on measuring the effects of financial education, including single point measurements (FINRA Investor Education Foundation, 2020; Lusardi & Mitchell, 2017) and where individuals have been measured both before and after an experimental financial education treatment (Batty et al., 2015; Reich & Berman, 2015). It was expected that financial education increases financial understanding and improves financial decision making for Cherokee Nation citizens.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ 1: To what extent does financial education affect individual savings?

 H_01 : Financial education does not affect individual savings.

*H*_a1: Financial education affects individual savings.

RQ 2: To what extent does financial education affect financial planning and decision making?

 H_02 : Financial education does not affect financial planning and decision making.

*H*_a2: Financial education affects financial planning and decision making.

RQ 3: To what extent do demographic factors affect financial planning and decision making?

 H_03 : Demographic factors do not affect financial planning and decision making.

 H_a 3: Demographic factors do affect financial planning and decision making.

RQ 4: To what extent do demographic factors affect financial planning and decision making after financial education?

 H_0 4: Demographic factors do not affect financial planning and decision making after financial education.

 H_{a} 4: Demographic factors do affect financial planning and decision making after financial education.

RQ 5: To what extent do demographic factors affect savings?

 H_05 : Demographic factors do not affect savings.

*H*_a5: Demographic factors do affect savings.

RQ 6: To what extent do demographic factors affect savings after financial education?

 H_06 : Demographic factors do not affect savings after financial education.

 H_a6 : Demographic factors do affect savings after financial education.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical base for this study was centered around economic theories indicating that individuals make choices based on what maximizes utility throughout their lives in accordance with their knowledge, capabilities, and rational decision making. Specifically, this study was guided by prospect theory and cumulative prospect theory (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992), which relate individual choice to factors of risk aversion and framing effects apply to financial education effects on financial literacy and behavior. The problem of low levels of financial literacy for all individuals, and in particular disadvantaged groups such as Cherokee Nation citizens, can be traced to factors that relate to individual choices and backgrounds both financially and psychologically aligned with prospect theory. Though there are several impacts on occupational choices (i.e., education level, major, industry, employer, or job) such as personal utility, satisfaction, location, or life factors, one factor that plays a role is financial education.

Conceptual Framework

Financial education is a crucial aspect of financial literacy that enables individuals to make well-informed decisions regarding various financial alternatives (such as investment choices) in relation to their own individual situation combined with market and environmental conditions. Though gaining more information and a better understanding is beneficial for individuals, there are other considerations than just information and learning alone. The relevance and use of information is impacted by psychological aspects (García, 2013). In addition, other factors such as experience can shape how individuals process financial information and make decisions (Tannahill, 2012). The financial education framework can be captured by the following figure.

Figure 1

Financial Education Framework



Nature of the Study

The nature of the study was quantitative. The underlying fundamentals of the issue of financial education and corresponding financial capability and performance revolve around numerical concepts and quantities. In addition, the research questions were more related to the degree of things, with measurable outcomes, that lend more to a quantitative approach. The study was non-experimental using ex post facto research to test the effects of financial education on savings and financial planning and financial decision making.

Definitions

For this study, there are five definitions that are relevant to clarify:

Demographic differences: These consist of the various categories of identifying groups of people, including factors such as age, education, race, and gender.

Financial education: This is the process by which individuals gain an understanding or increase their understanding with regard to financial topics including products and strategies in order to make better decisions and improve their financial wellbeing (Becchetti et al., 2013).

Financial literacy: This is the aspect of understanding financial topics and related financial systems and financial products, being knowledgeable about various financial concepts (Becchetti et al., 2013).

Financial planning and decision making: This is the aspect of making various choices with regard to both the present and future as they relate to an individual's financial situation in relation to the individual's understanding of financial concepts and their expectations about various financial products, institutions and options aligned with important personal factors such as risk tolerance, goals and objectives, and personal satisfaction.

Savings: Money from any income source such as employment or inheritance that is set aside for future consumption for purposes such as emergencies or retirement through some sort of investment such as savings accounts, retirement plans, stocks, bonds, treasuries, and commodities.

Assumptions

It was assumed that individuals have the capacity to learn and thus make better choices if given access to information and provided a thorough understanding of the information. In addition, it was assumed that individuals will be able to grasp and properly apply information that is given to them. It was also assumed that individuals in the study are providing an honest reflection of their knowledge and ability as well as the decisions that they would actually make or have actually made in their lives inside and outside the scope of the study. Finally, it was assumed that no individuals are making decisions based on any type of approach unrelated to their knowledge, education, or experience and that the information provided in survey responses is accurate and reliable.

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of this study centered around financial education and its impact on savings and financial decision making. These aspects were chosen as they relate to a general knowledge of financial literacy and the key factors that impact financial aspects for an individual's well-being. Various other aspects such as advanced investment strategies or approaches were not included as these relate more to the possibility of attempting to acquire wealth as opposed to managing well-being. In addition, this study focused on Cherokee Nation citizens, as previous studies include samples of general populations and are not adequate for understanding this particular demographic group. Generalizability of the findings may thus be limited as a result.

Limitations

The limitations of this study include population, time, and instrumentation. Survey questions used for analysis in the study as well as the financial education individuals may have received prior to the study are inherently limited. The validity of these instruments cannot be fully tested but are assumed to be valid. The entire population is not feasible to study regarding cost, and it is assumed that the sample of the study is representative, though limitations may arise due to the nature of Cherokee Nation citizens being from various backgrounds ranging from genealogy to culture. Finally, time is a limitation with regard to cost to analyze individuals over the course of their lives to track potential long-term impacts.

Significance of the Study

This study addressed the effects of financial education regarding an understudied minority group of society. This research provides further insight into the aspects of financial understanding and decision making that could lead to significant improvements in the lives of individuals, which can correlate to improvements in their surrounding communities. The findings of this study may provide an understanding to policy decision makers for what might work with regard to financial education for various segments of the population, leading to significant improvements in the financial aspects of society and positive social change by helping reduce the problems associated with poverty, high amounts of debt, and retirement planning and funding problems.

Significance to Theory

This study impacts financial theories in several ways. First, the results of this study serve to confirm current understandings of the impact of financial education as well as expose potential fallacies or misunderstood ideas and concepts. It may be that financial education itself is sufficient or lacking in one or more ways or that the results observed after financial education are not fully understood.

Significance to Practice

This study has several implications for practice. Results of this study might lend support to include financial education in various societal institutions and programs.

Likewise, results of this study might also help for making potential changes to financial education as well as potential alternative approaches and solutions that could be considered. It is also possible that financial education may be effective only for certain individuals or under special conditions, and these could be further analyzed.

Significance to Social Change

This study has many implications for positive social change. Gaining a better understanding of both financial education in general as well as the impact on Cherokee Nation citizens provides benefits for both individuals as well as society. It is possible that this study could be used for improving existing programs or creating new ones to help with financial literacy and the financial well-being of Cherokee Nation citizens. These individuals would then be in a better position for helping themselves as well as contributing to society in better and enhanced ways.

Summary and Transition

The impact of financial education on individuals is an important topic. The objective of this study was to add to the literature by examining financial education as it relates to Cherokee Nation citizens. Financial education has been analyzed for the general population but not for this group. In this chapter a discussion about the background of financial education impact on individuals was included. In addition, key definitions of financial education, financial literacy, demographic differences, and financial decision making were defined. Key assumptions for factors related to individuals and instrumentation as well as scope and limitations for the demographic group and timeframe of the study were also described. Finally, the key significances of this study

for theory, practice, and social change relating to understanding, program planning, and impact on individuals and society were discussed.

In Chapter 2, a literature review is provided for a detailed look at the issues surrounding financial education and studies that have been conducted as well as results that have been obtained. Various factors such as the need for financial literacy, the use of financial education, and benefits and drawbacks are examined. Corresponding theories such as behavior theories and educational theories are also examined.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The literature shows that there is a significant need for financial education as financial literacy levels are lacking in society. However, there is debate about how to address financial literacy, with results providing support for financial education but no clear guidance on what form it should take. There is also a myriad of demographic factors that play a key role in the financial education process that could be influential in obtaining the desired results. This research addressed a lack of financial literacy in the general population, which has been problematic for the long-term economic benefit of individuals and society (Fraczek, 2014). This problem appears to be worse for minorities, including citizens of the Cherokee Nation. But there is a significant lack of research regarding the impact of financial education on the economic and financial well-being of Cherokee Nation citizens. The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of financial education on Cherokee Nation citizens in regard to financial literacy and decision making using a quantitative method with a non-experimental design.

This chapter contains a section for the literature search strategy used, including databases and sources as well as methodological approaches. The chapter also describes the theoretical and conceptual foundations for the research, including theories from Tversky and Kahneman and Thaler. Chapter 2 further discusses the research for financial education and literacy and the key variables and factors. These factors include saving, investing, financial markets and products, spending, debt, assets, employment, income, wealth, generations, life cycle, relationships, education, policies, society, demographics, and factors for minorities and Cherokee Nation citizens.

Literature Search Strategy

The following is a list of accessed library databases and search engines used: Thoreau Multi-Database Search, Academic Search Complete, Expanded Academic, ASAP, ProQuest Central, ScienceDirect, ABI/Inform Collection, Directory of Open, Access Books (DOAB), Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University, EBSCO ebooks, Education Source, ERIC, Google Books, Google Public Data Directory, National Bureau of Economic Research, Open Book Publishers, Open Library, Oxford Education Bibliographies, ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global, Psychology Databases Simultaneous Search, SAGE Journals, SAGE Research Methods Online, SAGE Stats, World Bank Open Knowledge Repository, Google Scholar. The following is a list of key search terms used: *financial literacy, financial education, saving, investment, wealth, employment, debt, consumption, financial markets, financial products, behavioral economics, policies, education, behavior, psychology, assets, society, Cherokee.*

In general, the literature search strategy consisted of searching for these terms as well as combinations of these terms among all the databases listed. The search consisted of looking for relevant articles and other types of sources within the last 5 years as well as major relevant works for any time. When relevant articles were located, a scan of references used for the article was conducted and these references were searched among the databases as well. In addition, searches were conducted for any articles that had also referenced the article that was being examined for the sources it had used. Searches were also conducted for known major theorists of behavioral economics and behavioral finance with relation to financial education in the literature.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical foundation for this study revolves around the ideas, concepts, and theories advanced by Thaler, Tversky, and Kahneman. In particular, these theories include prospect theory and cumulative prospect theory as well as quasi-rational economics (choice architect). The theoretical foundation includes concepts of general education, financial education, and financial literacy.

Cumulative prospect theory is an improvement on prospect theory, which itself is built around solving issues with expected utility theory. Expected utility theory explains decision making of individuals under uncertain conditions, but it does not provide a sufficient explanation for actual observed behaviors of individuals with regard to decision making. Prospect theory takes these observed behaviors into account for risky prospects in regard to choices among outcomes. It consists of a concave value function for gains and convex value function for losses and nonlinear transformation of probability (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). The value functions of prospect theory show that there is a greater effect for a loss than there is for a gain. In addition, the probability of a small probability outcome is given much more consideration than those that have greater likelihoods. Though these aspects of prospect theory represent a significant improvement on analyzing choice behavior, it is limited in the number of outcomes. Cumulative prospect theory takes into account unlimited outcomes as well as cumulative probability (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992).

The specifics of values for cumulative functions depends on the framing of choices and values assigned to various outcomes. When dealing with matters of choice for individual behavior, the factors that a model should consider consist of framing effects, nonlinear preferences, source dependence, risk seeking, and loss aversion (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). Framing effects impact individual choice when individuals make different choices depending on how information is presented to them, even if the information is identical. Nonlinear preferences show that the scale of probability has different effects on individual choice depending on where it lies on the scale, whereas increases at higher levels have greater effect than increases at lower levels, even if the increment of the increase is identical. Source dependence shows that individuals place value on not just the information they receive but also on where the information comes from. Risk seeking observations show that individuals prefer small probability of success for a large outcome and that relatedly, loss aversion shows that individuals avoid loss far more than seek gain. Both of these factors are counter to expectations of risk aversion principle assumptions in traditional economic analysis.

In general individuals are both risk-seeking and loss-averse. As a result, the values that individuals place on these possibilities are overweighed to the point that individuals will choose these options over other choices that may be deemed more rational (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). Prospect theory and the enhanced cumulative prospect theory propose that although individuals have methods and reasons for their choices, the decisions are normally not in accordance with the traditional assumptions of rational decision making, in particular as it relates to choices of extremes for small

chances of gain or to avoid a loss rather than a choice in between the extremes. Individuals are also susceptible to various aspects of information regarding the probabilities of the choices they are given, such as framing, so individuals often rely on heuristic procedures.

Economic theory has developed to the point where predictions can be reasonably made on an aggregate basis under certain conditions and assumptions; however, one aspect that has traditionally been left out is the human factor of behavior. Traditional models for life-cycle economic decision making and analysis can be enhanced by incorporating additional human behavior tendencies. Traditional theories need to account for how individuals actually make decisions in addition to how they should make decisions. Factors that are error related both for the individuals and many predictive models are inaccurate consideration of opportunity cost, considerations of sunk cost, and behavior related to regret and self-control (Thaler, 1980). Adding in elements from aspects of self-control, mental accounting, and aspects of framing form the basis of Shefrin and Thaler's (1988) behavioral life-cycle hypothesis can help analyze an individual's willpower, timeframes and planning, and options for choices. As a result of these behavioral factors, similar to aspects of cumulative prospect theory, individuals tend to divide factors of income and assets into time periods and give more weight to present factors than future factors (Shefrin & Thaler, 1988).

Further, individuals often make decisions based on their own perceptions as well as lack of awareness regarding many personal factors as they relate to overall factors (Thaler, 1985). As a result, they often make illogical decisions for either doing things they should not do or not doing things that they should do. Some examples of these instances include when individuals attach labels to money, topic and time related errors, issues with self-control, and a valuation of positive value to gifts received when the gift would not be purchased directly by the individual. Making decisions based on money simply because it can be classified as another category, such as a windfall rather than an earnings increase, or a valuation of an instance of time over a longer period when conditions and factors are related represent individual errors. Similarly, these individual errors can become group errors for things like gifts, when both the person receiving the gift and the person giving the gift share funds, as in the case of spouses for instance.

Individual issues with self-control are well studied in many fields. However, in terms of economic and financial behavior, a good approach for a model to approximate temporal differences between present and future decisions is to consider an individual as a two-person model (Thaler & Shefrin, 1981). In this model, one of the two halves of the individual represent a planner, and the other represents a doer. Essentially the planner is concerned with long-term decisions and actions for utility, and the doer is concerned with utility of present actions. Though it is possible for extremes to exist, most individuals incorporate a set of rules or guidelines for which both the planning and doing mentalities interact and exert control over decision making and behavior. As a result, there is some degree of a trade-off for which the individual reaches their derived utility and acts accordingly. Individuals make different choices according to the relative waiting period for these various timeframes, such as today and next week compared to 2 years from now and 2 years and 1 week from now. This difference in choices is known as dynamic

inconsistency. Individuals need a much larger gain in terms of percentage in order to properly concern themselves with smaller rewards, and individuals place value on actual costs but consistently undervalue factors that are related to opportunity costs (Thaler, 1981).

Additionally, individuals make many decisions that are both seemingly rational as well as irrational; psychology and various psychological factors therefore play a key role in individual decision-making processes (Thaler, 1987). Choices are often considered independent, but there is a need to consider the joint nature of dependence for many choices even when they appear to be independent. In addition, there are many factors that influence the inputs for choices such as values. Values can be weighted according to individual preference, which leads to the possibility of seemingly irrational choices. Closely related is the aspect of framing, which sets up a different perspective of alternatives depending on they appear to the individual. Choice is also impacted by certainty and uncertainty or confidence about certainty for each individual. Choices are often based on judgments, and judgments face the same factors that relate to choices in terms of being skewed for accuracy and rationality for individuals. Incentives can often play a role for both individuals making decision as well as finding information about them for studies and theories, yet monetary incentives have been shown to have little impact in terms of necessity for the most part for revealing accurate information but does have an impact on choices. A final factor impacting individual psychology and choice is that of learning, and individuals seem to incorporate mistakes as well as success into future decision making, with both having a significant impact.
Literature Review

Financial Literacy

Financial literacy is not something that is common for many individuals in society. There are many financial options available to individuals and as a result, it is often difficult to make decisions. This is particularly true for individuals who lack any sort of fundamental understanding of financial literacy (Fraczek, 2014). Even highly educated members of society often lack financial literacy due to a relative lack of financial education. This problem is greater for individuals without high levels of education. There is also a question of whether individuals in America are financially literate or illiterate on average. Though it seems likely that the majority are illiterate, many individuals are actually literate, though this is related to age with older individuals scoring better (Grable & Rabbani, 2020).

Economic conditions and a complex environment increase the need for financial literacy (Reich & Berman, 2015). Though it may have been acceptable to be more passive for individuals managing their money due to societal and economic conditions along with a simplistic landscape, this is not necessarily a good approach in a global economy. There is a need for people to be able to handle money not just on a reactionary basis but on a basis of being proactive (Marta-Christina & Liana, 2013). The ability to be proactive requires an understanding of related concepts as well as options.

Financial literacy is related to what an individual knows about the relative topics, but it is also closely related to what individuals can do with that knowledge. Financial literacy is knowledge, and financial capability incorporates behavior (Collins & OddersWhite, 2015). Being able to incorporate knowledge and translate that to behavior is not always an easy thing to do. The first concern is that there is a need to acquire knowledge. The second concern is figuring out what to do with that knowledge and applying it to their daily life. The primary model for literacy is that financial education improves financial literacy and thus financial behavior (Alsemgeest, 2015). However, the relationship between literacy and behavior has been shown unclear in some studies, and there is a lack of literature supporting financial literacy and actual behavior (Alsemgeest, 2015). If there is a link, there does not appear to be a strong link between literacy and behavior (Hensley, 2015).

Examining the link between financial literacy and behavior involves multiple aspects. One of these aspects is actual financial literacy of individuals and the other is the perception that individuals have about their own financial literacy. Allgood and Walstad (2016) examined these aspects and found no causal relationship between financial literacy and behavior, though there were some correlations. In general, it appears that perceptions individuals have about their own ability tend to play a role in financial behavior of individuals in addition to any actual financial literacy that they may have, and as a result both of these factors should be considered together when assessing financial literacy or financial education (Allgood & Walstad, 2016).

For financial education programs to be effective, an accurate understanding of financial literacy is needed. Financial education is the method most often adopted to increase financial literacy, but there have been mixed results (Fernandes et al., 2014). This is likely because there are many factors involved such as communication (Hanson & Olson, 2018), creating a need more research and understanding. Previously, most efforts have been constrained to a limited field of financial knowledge as the primary, if not only, indicator of financial literacy. This view is limited though, as knowledge does not always lead to ability. Furthermore, ability does not always lead to action. There is reason to believe that these two aspects, ability and action, should be incorporated into measures and discussions of financial literacy for financial education purposes (Warmath & Zimmerman 2019).

Financial Education

Financial education is needed, but there is debate about what form financial education should take or how it should be implemented. There are examples of success with financial education and also examples of limited results (Fernandes et al., 2014). There are also questions about when and where financial education should be implemented.

Financial education is something that can be a part of the larger overall education system. Most states now focus on personal finance at some point in education (Collins & Odders-White, 2015). In addition, it seems it may be better to begin financial education at a younger age, so there is now a greater focus on personal finance and younger students (Collins & Odders-White, 2015). Financial education needs to begin as early as possible and be an ongoing learning experience (Marta-Christina & Liana, 2013). However, financial education itself is not currently normally a singular course, but rather it is part of other learning experiences. Financial education is not normally offered as a standalone course (Collins & Odders-White, 2015).

Despite focus on financial education beginning earlier, it is also offered to individual later in life as well. Many researchers and policymakers agree that financial education at all levels of school can improve financial behavior of adults (Collins & Odders-White, 2015). In addition, financial education can have benefits when it is offered outside of the traditional school environment.

One other aspect to consider in addition to the timing of financial education and the content of financial education is that of the provider of the financial education. Depending on the source of the information, individuals can be more or less receptive to learning knowledge and skills. Generally, the better the reputation of the individual or organization that is providing the information or education, the more likely an individual will be to accept the information and to learn from it. With regard to financial advice, it is thus important for any advisor or educator to provide good quality information upfront, and to make a resoundingly good impression (Agnew et al., 2018).

Financial education is not simply a domestic issue, but it is a focus of the international community as well. Financial education is deemed an important issue within the European Union and principles have been created for its use in education (Marta-Christina & Liana, 2013). Despite the instance of some guidelines and principles and some regions, there remains a wide spectrum of financial education. There is a large variety within how financial education programs are implemented (Collins & Odders-White, 2015).

There is a need for measuring long term impact (Collins & Odders-White, 2015). Without knowing the long-term impact, it is difficult to judge the ultimate effectiveness of financial education as well as determine what aspects are most beneficial and in what ways and formats. Financial education evaluation has been focused on individual measures that are not as effective for measuring actual behavior (Reich & Berman, 2015).

Previous studies have lacked the use of a control group for financial education (Reich & Berman, 2015). As a result of the lack of use of control groups, it is hard to say what effects are the results of financial education rather than some external factor. In addition, it is difficult to measure the actual potential of financial education itself. Reich and Berman (2015) conducted an experimental design using a control group for financial education benefits. They found from a sample of homeless individuals and families in a housing program that financial education course increased financial literacy and capability.

Financial capability can be thought of in terms of both literacy as well as behavior. In general, financial education seeks to impact both literacy and behavior of individuals, so it is important to consider both in terms of overall financial capability of individuals. Xiao and O'Neill (2016) measured the impact of financial education across variables of objective and subjective financial literacy, perceived financial capability and desirable behavior. Results indicated that there was a significant effect of financial education on financial capability. These results were true for both educational settings as well as workplace settings.

The important outcome for financial education is to influence actual individual financial behavior. There are two important considerations for this objective, which are short-term and long-term measures. The effects of financial education may or may not be

the same with regard to these time frames and may be different for individuals as well. According to Wagner and Walstad (2019) financial education has differing levels of significance depending on the type of short-term and long-term behavior. Short-term behavior that has relatively quick feedback is more likely to result in situations where financial education is not as effective. For long-term behavior, financial education has been found to be significant when there is a delay for feedback for the corresponding behavior.

Savings Levels

Many individuals do not save at all. Still others save, but do not save enough to meet their future needs, or future wants. Low levels of saving are often associated with lower levels of financial literacy, which can be alleviated by financial education. It is important for everyone to save in order to obtain their financial goals. However, it is perhaps even more important for individuals with less resources. Financial education has been shown to increase saving for individuals with low income (Reich & Berman, 2015).

Saving for future needs and wants is an important financial behavior. Despite this importance, it appears that the overall trend for saving with regard to financial decisions has been decreasing. There are many factors contributing to this situation, including less attractive savings options and increasing debt. These trends have had a major impact on younger individuals, both with regard to current savings as well as what can be expected from future savings activities and financial results. The amount of savings is significantly less than average calculated needs for most working individuals presently, which is a

problem resulting not only from actual activity but a lack of perceived need to save as well (Brüggen et al., 2017).

A low rate of savings is known to be problematic for individuals both for the present as well as the future. One of the problems associated with an individual's seeming inability to save an appropriate amount for future needs is a lack of an association with specific objectives related to their needs and wants. As a result, it may be beneficial if individuals are able to look at their own savings through the lens of objectively measured goals. One such method developed to help individuals to match behavior with goals is a personal saving orientation approach. Results of this method indicate that individuals are better able to understand and achieve savings, and programs designed to aid individuals attain a higher understanding of individual needs and tendencies (Dholakia et al., 2016).

Investing

Many individuals do not invest, or do not invest rationally. This is often a result of a lack of financial education. Furthermore, when individuals do invest, they often do so passively, relying on industry experts to handle everything for them. Although in some ways this can be fine, it can create problems when individuals have low levels of financial literacy and do not know what options may be available to them as market conditions change of life events occur.

Investing can take the form of many objectives for various groups of people over the course of their lifetimes. Normally, most investment is goal related in close relation to major life events. For example, many people invest for their own future or for those they choose to support with regard to the purchase of a house, paying for education, and retirement planning. According to Walstad et al. (2017) studies involving college students who received financial education not only had increased savings but also had increased amounts of investment knowledge and better related investment activity tendencies. This was not only true for long term effects such as retirement planning, but students with financial education also appear to benefit from a greater understanding involving the details related to the investment of their education with potential effects for retention rates.

Financial Markets & Products

There are many financial markets and many more financial products in existence. The vast number of markets and products can often make financial topics seem more complex than they really are to a lot of individuals. Financial education, combined with an emphasis on particular markets and products, can make financial topics more easily understood and applied by the general population.

One issue for individuals making financial decisions appears to be the ability to narrow down options. There is an oversaturation of choices for consumers (Alsemgeest, 2015). As a result, it can be difficult to obtain all valid information for decision making purposes, or to be able to quickly analyze all of the information that is available in a timely manner for investment purposes.

Over the years, the dynamics of financial markets and responsibility for important issues such as retirement have shifted. For retirement, individuals now face a situation where the market demands more individual control than before, as seen by the prevalence of defined contribution plans rather than the previous prevalence of defined benefit plans. This trend increases the importance of financial decisions for individuals at all stages of life but has larger impacts for decisions made when younger as time can compound the benefits gained or missed from certain decisions. As a result, it is important for individuals to have a focus on investing in financial knowledge to understand how to make proper asset allocation decisions over time with respect to their options and goals (Lusardi et al., 2017).

Spending & Consumption

It is often accepted as a part of human nature or behavior that individuals desire instant gratification. As a result, most people consume more than they save. This is not an inherent problem, but if consumption level is too high relative to income, it can become a problem. A greater understanding of financial topics could be beneficial.

Teaching individuals about saving and investing is beneficial but would matter little if an individual cannot control the other side of the equation, namely the expenses arising out of spending and consumption. One of the keys in teaching financial education to individuals is to help them control compulsive spending (Anderson & Card, 2015). When people are better able to control their spending habits, or at least be aware of them to make better informed decisions, they can benefit more by understanding and choosing the proper relationship between spending and investing for them according to their own situation.

Spending habits can vary by individual as well as for the individual over time. Anderson and Card (2015) examined spending habits of college students as well as financial education. For first year college students, men were found to be less likely to be compulsive buyers than women. Students who received some sort of financial education intervention were less likely to have urges to spend money. Students were also found to enjoy spending money but enjoyed spending money less after financial education (Anderson & Card, 2015).

Consumption is something that is often overlooked when individuals plan their future financial needs and outcomes. In addition, individuals often make faulty assumptions and decisions regarding current and future expenses in relation to income and overall financial matters. Berman et al. (2016) found that individuals often give significantly less weight to the effect of future expenses in regard to financial impact than they should. In general, individuals who desire to spend less are less prone to this error while individuals who are likely to spend more are more prone to the error. The significance of this error also increases in strength with relation to the duration of when these expenses occur, with higher amounts of error for longer time frames than for shorter time frames.

Debt Amount

Many individuals have very high levels of debt. Much of this debt consists of credit card debt or student loans. Often, these debts are taken on by individuals without a true understanding of the ramifications of debt. Debt can also be used to generate wealth instead of take away from it, but a high level of financial literacy is needed.

Although debt is an issue globally for all individuals, it appears to be a bigger problem when it easier to obtain. Debt is extremely high in developed nations with more supply of credit (Alsemgeest, 2015). The problem can be exacerbated by not only the availability of credit, but by the amount of credit that is available to individuals, especially when they have lower income and assets and less ability to manage the debt they take on.

The amount of debt is an issue, but it is better examined as a percentage. Higher percentages of debt related to assets or income indicate both short term and long-term problems for individuals. Global household debt as a percentage of income has increased (Alemgeest, 2015). This increased debt percentage decreases the likelihood that individuals are able to properly save or invest in order to meet financial goals in the present as well as over time.

Debt is a big issue with college students, particularly student loans and credit cards. Both forms of debt are major barriers for college students to overcome for being able to invest appropriate amounts for long enough time periods to meet their financial objectives. Credit card debt is more common that student loan debt (Anderson & Card, 2015).

There appears to be a problem that consists of two parts pertaining to debt and younger individuals. For one thing, they have a high amount of debt and a corresponding reliance on using it. To go along with this problem, they are also less aware of the issues pertaining to debt, as their financial literacy levels are lower (Brown et al., 2016). This means that they are not only more likely to have problems with debt in the present, but that this problem is likely to carry over to the future and in other areas of financial well-being. A likely indicator of this is how the debt is repaid, and a significant number of

individuals are struggling to handle their debt with regard to student loans (Brown et al., 2016).

One of the largest issues overall for debt for most individuals is a lack of understanding, or debt literacy. According to Lusardi and Tufano (2015) this lack of knowledge applies in general to the overall population, as less than half of individuals have an adequate understanding of compound interest. There is an overall relationship between debt levels and debt understanding. The less an individual knows about debt, the higher their debt level is likely to be, which impacts all areas of their financial decision making. This applies to all forms of debt held by individual as well (Lusardi & Tufano, 2015).

Assets Held

Purchasing assets is something that is important for developing and maintaining wealth. However, many individuals often purchase assets that depreciate in value over time and rarely purchase assets that appreciate in value. A greater level of financial education may alleviate this problem.

With regard to assets, there is an obvious relationship to wealth. In general, individuals with more wealth are able to purchase more assets, which in turn leads to the generation of additional wealth. It's therefore reasonable to assume that individuals with less wealth would have less assets and a greater need to acquire assets and build wealth. Many programs, known as individual development accounts, seek to address this issue, among others. There is evidence to support that these types of programs can lead to a significant increase in assets for individuals when they are used in conjunction with financial education. One such program, the Assets for Independence Program, had a much higher impact for individuals after one year for assets as well as correspondingly less financial hardship for individuals in the treatment group compared to the control group (Mills et al., 2019).

Employment

For most individuals, employment is the primary source of income during their lifetime. As a result, it is imperative that individuals have sufficient financial literacy to manage their current income as well as their future income. In addition, the employment environment provides a gateway to providing financial education to many individuals that may not have had access to it before or could benefit from further discussion and education.

In modern times, there has been a significant shift in retirement planning obligations from that of the employer to that of the employee. As a result, it is imperative that individuals gain an adequate financial understanding in order to meet this need. This has led to a greater prevalence of access to financial literacy programs through an individual's workplace. However, despite this there is a continued lack of financial literacy for many workers as there is often difficulty in grasping the increasing complexity of the body of financial knowledge and the variety of corresponding available financial products. This is true for employees in all types of employment, but it is perhaps a bigger problem for employees who work in the public sector rather than other sectors (Kamakia et al., 2017). Perhaps one of the biggest impacts of financial education with regard to employment can be found with the effects related to financial education and selfemployment. Ćumurović and Hyll (2019) found that there is a positive correlation between the amount of financial education an individual has and the likelihood that they will be self-employed. One reason for this could be that one of the biggest hurdles to entrepreneurial success is proper financial management for the new venture, as resources are less likely to be available to compensate for any mistakes. Individuals who have a greater financial literacy are thus more likely to understand how to properly manage the finances of the new venture, increasing the chance for success and the likelihood that an individual will be able to be self-employed. Furthermore, these individuals who understand financial topics are more likely to understand the details surrounding risk and thus more willing to undertake the challenges of becoming and staying self-employed (Ćumurović & Hyll, 2019).

Financial education has differing degrees of effectiveness depending upon the type of employment an individual has. While most forms of employment offer potential opportunities to be exposed to financial education, individuals tend to have different levels of behavior and understanding according to the nature of their employment. Clark et al. (2017) found that individuals who were employees of the Federal Reserve system were both more likely to exhibit positive financial behaviors as well as have higher levels of financial literacy than employees in the general population. This indicates that financial education is useful for all types of employees, but it may be more or less needed

or perhaps need to be tailored according to the general experience and type of employment individuals have.

Income Levels

There are other sources of income other than employment. For many individuals, this becomes important when they reach retirement age, as they are no longer capable, or no longer desire, to work. As a result, financial education is needed for individuals to be able to sufficiently manage their retirement goals while they are working, and their retirement income when they have retired.

Income has a large impact on financial ability and financial decision making for individuals. There are distinct differences in individual behavior depending on the amount of wealth that they possess. It is common for those with less economic resources to make worse decisions that individuals that have more economic resources, and in addition to the decisions being worse, they are often also very poor decisions that exacerbate financial problems. There are several factors that impact these decisions, including financial factors as well as educational and temporal factors. Individuals often make different decisions based on the timing of when they have financial resources, such as a payday. Individuals tend to prefer choices that favor the present before a payday, though overall choices for individuals are similar both before and after a payday (Carvalho et al., 2016).

Income has multiple effects on an individual. One of the major effects is related to the amount of stress that an individual may experience both at a given moment as well as during their lifetime. The stress is something that impacts current well-being as well as future well-being and has an impact on money management and financial decision making. Whereas the effect tends to be there for most individuals, there is a point in which it is minimized or no longer has a significant impact, depending on the amount of income an individual receives and the likelihood of future prospects. Individuals who receive less income face more stress and would benefit the most from programs designed to relieve the money management stress they face as a result (Netemeyer et al., 2017).

Wealth Amounts

True wealth for individuals and families can only be developed and maintained with a sufficient understanding of financial literacy. Understanding money management issues enables individuals to build wealth over the course of their lives. It also allows individuals to pass on wealth to later generations, whereby the wealth often is enhanced over time.

Individuals are likely to treat financial knowledge and decision making as a means to an end, in order to feel content or secure with their life in relation to their overall goals and happiness. As a result, it is important to understand what factors have the biggest influence on this perception. Income and investments have an impact, as does overall level of debt. However, according to Ruberton et al. (2016) the biggest factor that contributes to overall financial well-being is the amount of liquid wealth that they possess. This effect was found to hold true across all demographics.

Generations

One of the predictors for individuals is their background. For financial literacy and education, there is often a case of individuals having insufficient knowledge and skills due to a background of generational poverty. As such, the cycle often repeats itself, and outside intervention is needed to break the cycle.

There is research to support that financial impacts and outcomes interact with other variables such as education and relationships over a period of time to have multiple results on not just current generations but future generations as well. Children that grow up in poverty have a higher likelihood of poor financial decisions and outcomes as well as passing these characteristics on in continuing cycles. These impacts are not just financial, but related to a number of other factors as well, such as emotional well-being and relationship building and maintenance such as marital satisfaction. Such cycles are difficult to overcome for individuals not just from an internal perspective, but also in conjunction with external factors such as economic opportunity and environment (Hubler et al., 2016).

Life Cycle

Individuals go through many stages of development as well as activity in life. Financial education is complex, but the basics can still be taught even at an early age. Such topics as spending and saving can be taught to children at a very young age. Topics can be continually built upon and enhanced over the course of an individual's life from early to late stages.

In general, individuals tend to acquire more knowledge and experience as they age, and as a result their literacy and capabilities tend to increase over time in regard to various topics and choices. Xiao et al. (2015) found that after controlling for various external and internal factors, older individuals showed increased objective and subjective

financial literacy levels than younger individuals. This trend is also true for financial capability. Conversely, financial behavior tends to be less for older individuals than younger individuals. There is thus likely a mixture of internal factors and external factors that need to be considered with regard to age and financial education programs (Xiao et al., 2015).

The trend for individuals to acquire greater levels of knowledge over time may hold true for financial knowledge as a result of need. Different periods of time also have the potential to impact decisions for people of different ages. Henager and Cude (2016) found that age had the second largest impact on behavior after income. For both shortterm and long-term behavior, objective and subjective financial knowledge are significant for all age groups. Both types of knowledge tend to increase according to age. However, both types of knowledge and corresponding behavior were found to be significant for all individuals of every age (Henager & Cude, 2016).

With regard to older individuals, there is an overall cognitive ability factor that needs to be considered when assessing financial literacy and capability. In general, humans have two major types of cognitive ability. These consist of fluid intelligence regarding the ability to think logically and apply logic to new situations and crystallized intelligence regarding the ability to use previous experience and knowledge. Finke et al. (2017) found that for individuals over the age of 60 there is a decline in financial literacy for all major demographic categories. This does not appear to have an impact on financial confidence, however.

Relationships

Relationships play a key role in the lives of individuals for all human activities. Financial literacy and education can often be enhanced when an individual has relationships with other individuals that have a grasp of financial topics. This is especially true when these relationships play a significant role in the lives of an individual, such as parents.

Perhaps the biggest impact for individuals with regard to relationships is the one they form with their significant other. Spouses have a large impact on the life an individual across all categories, and as a result financial knowledge and results are certainly impacted by this relationship, either positively or negatively. According to Ward and Lynch (2019) there is a lack of financial literacy for many individuals and this lack of literacy can often be directly linked to the role they have within their relationship with their significant others for various responsibilities such as financial issues. Those individuals who do not play a part in financial decisions or activities in their relationships often have less financial literacy than individuals who assume these responsibilities. In addition, this result tends to be more pronounced with longer durations for the relationship and financial responsibility dynamics.

Another very important relationship in the lives of most, if not all, individuals is that which they form with their parents. Parents generally are the first relationship that individuals have, and as a result they have a large impact in all areas of life. It is thus an important consideration when determining the role and effects of financial education. There is significant evidence to suggest that parents who have greater levels of financial literacy tend to pass on this knowledge to their children who then also have higher levels of financial understanding (Moreno-Herrero et al., 2018).

General Education

Financial education is a rather complex topic. It is not something that is easy to implement and teach, nor is it something that can be easily understood without a corresponding level of understanding general topics, such as mathematics. As a result, financial education is likely something that can only be truly beneficial when combined with general education efforts.

In general, education reflects a level of learning, and as a result it tends to increase potential knowledge and capability for individuals with regard to many subjects. One of the general education topics that perhaps has one of the highest potential impacts on financial education and financial literacy, as well as corresponding financial behavior, is that of numeracy. Financial topics, by nature, involve a lot of numbers. It would therefore seem that individuals who have a greater understanding of mathematical principles or numbers might fare better with regard to financial education and literacy, as well as behavior. According to Skagerlund, et al. (2018) financial literacy programs generally have little direct impact on improving financial literacy for individuals unless there is another factor present. Usually, this factor is either an affinity for numbers or something closely related, or more broadly cognitive ability.

Policies

There are some policies in place to help with matters related to financial education and literacy. Many of these policies relate to retirement planning, while some

relate to education. Some of the more successful retirement planning policies include things such as automatic enrollment in retirement plans. Generally, the results have been for increased contributions as a result of these plans. However, Butrica and Karamcheva (2019) found that these plans have led to a greater number of participants enrolled in plans, but that they still contribute less than those who willingly sign up for such plans. This is true even when considering that employers also contribute more as a result of these plans. While they may be contributing less than other individuals, it is still likely that these individuals are benefitting from the automatic enrollment as otherwise they may be contributing nothing to their retirement plans.

Policies can range from direct to indirect, as well as part of formal requirements or informal suggestions, from various types of organizations and government. Some of the more formal government requirements recently include requirements for high school students to take some form of financial education, usually a personal finance class, before graduating from high school (Harvey, 2019). Many consumers, usually those who are less educated or with less resources, are those who use alternative financial services that are not traditionally offered through a mainstream source such as a bank such as payday loans. Harvey (2019) found that those who had personal finance courses generally had an increase in financial literacy and less reliance upon these alternative financial services than those who did not.

Policies for indirect participation can be helpful for financial education as well. However, for these policies there is an associated risk that individuals may choose not to participate. Chin and Williams (2020) found that a website that was dedicated to the purchase of homes and mortgage education had participants who already generally had a greater knowledge. Thus, there appears to be a correlation between individuals possessing some degree of financial knowledge and participation in educational programs that should be considered when designing optional financial education resources.

Society Factors

Financial education is something that is needed in society but is still far from being accepted or implemented broadly. Money management and wealth are generally topics that are left for wealthy individuals or professionals. It is not something that is usually taught as a core subject in school, or something that is commonly passed on from parents to children.

There are several aspects to society, and many of these have either a direct or indirect impact on financial education. A linear perspective of society leads to an interpretation that financial education is a means to achieve an objective. This is related to the goals of financial education that individuals should obtain better financial wellbeing not just for themselves but also for society (Rinaldi, 2016). This would lead to a direct relationship between financial education programs and financial behavior or results. In general, this also leads to a general approach, with little consideration given to specific individual differences due to human factors such as demographics (Rinaldi, 2016).

Another view of the relationship between financial education and society is one that is based on conflict. In this regard, there is a relationship of control between one group of society and another group or groups. The manifestation of this situation with regard to financial education could be represented with financial organizations who provide education in general to groups of lower income individuals who do not have the means to take advantage of the particular knowledge that is provided (Rinaldi, 2016). This represents a criticism not necessarily of the accuracy of the knowledge provided, but rather one that is more based on appropriateness, where such programs should be careful to consider recommendations based on the current life situation of the individuals who receive the information.

Yet another view of the interaction of society and education is one that is based on negotiation. This is the view that the various interactions within society are complex, and thus there is often a mixture of the direction of the interactions, such as individuals relying on society and society relying on individuals (Rinaldi, 2016). This seems to be the general representation of most aspects of society. With regard to financial education, this would indicate the need for individuals to have an awareness to raise issues for what they lack and need as well as for organizations and programs to provide information in general as well as adapt to individual circumstances as needs arise.

Demographics

As with many issues, financial education follows a general path of society for financial education and demographics. Those who have higher education levels are usually more capable and successful in general. Also, men tend to have more success with financial issues than women. Older individuals have often accumulated more experience, but younger individuals are better at adapting. There is generally a significant gender difference in financial outcomes between men and women. However, as with all individuals, there are many factors that determine overall financial behavior. According to Farrell et al. (2016) the biggest indicator of financial performance and behavior for women is financial self-efficacy. In general, it was found that an overall awareness and knowledge of financial information tends to have a significant impact on commonly accepted positive financial outcomes. This is true even when compared to other possible factors such as education, age, and income.

The differences between men and women with regard to financial literacy seems to be common and consistent on a relative global scale for multiple countries and cultures. In general, women are found to possess less overall financial literacy and ability. This is true across all age ranges from younger women to older women in retirement. This also appears to hold true even when considering situational factors that create a necessity for information and ability, such as being single in retirement or any other situation in which women may have no partner to rely on. This issue is significant for women as they are likely to outlive men and thus be forced to be independent more often (Bucher-Koenen et al., 2017).

There also appear to be significant gender differences with regard to the relationship between financial literacy and investments and risk tolerance. Bannier and Neubert (2016) found that there is a correlation for men with regard to risk tolerance and both standard as well as sophisticated types of financial products. However, for women this correlation only holds for standard types of financial products. In addition, both perceived and actual financial literacy impacts men with regard to standard financial

products, while for women only actual ability matters. However, both men and women have a correlation between perceived financial literacy for more advanced types of investments (Bannier & Neubert, 2016).

Minorities

Minorities are generally the group that usually have lower rates of education and income. They are more prone to generational poverty. Financial education is needed, but general education is likely needed as well. There is a significant gap in wealth with regard to race, as minorities in general have much less overall accumulated wealth than the white majority. In addition, this wealth gap has continued to widen in recent years. Financial education is generally considered a method to help alleviate this problem. Al-Bahrani et al. (2019) found that whites have higher amounts of financial literacy than minorities. Although everyone seems to benefit from financial education irrespective of race, there is significant evidence to indicate that whites gain more with regard to financial literacy and associated financial behavior from financial education than minorities do for financial literacy and behavior (Al-Bahrani et al., 2019).

Cherokee

Native American individuals and societies suffer many of the same afflictions as other minorities, and in many ways, are worse off. Education rates are often lower, and as a result income is usually lower as well. In addition, there is often a lack of resources, which lead to a lack of solutions. Cherokee Nation citizens often fit into these broad generalizations, but there is a greater diversity.

To the best knowledge of this researcher, there have been no prior direct studies for financial education with Cherokee Nation citizens. However, the FINRA Investor Education Foundation has gathered data on Native Americans through its national financial capability study. Dewees and Mottola (2017) found that the level of financial distress for Native Americans is at a higher level when compared to several other groups. They also have lower levels of financial knowledge. There is a significant majority of young individuals in high school who have a failing degree of financial knowledge. The problem is exacerbated by individuals belonging to generations possessing little financial knowledge and resources or assets. Most also do not have adequate liquid financial assets to meet any unexpected needs that might arise. Household income also tends to indicate difficulty to pay bills, particularly those who also have dependents. Native Americans also score the lowest among subgroups of the American population when it comes to future financial planning. Demographically within the Native American group individuals who tend to have higher levels of financial literacy are male, older, and have higher incomes (Dewees & Mottola, 2017).

Summary and Conclusions

In this chapter the literature search strategy, the theoretical foundation, and the literature review were discussed. The literature search strategy consisted of accessing multiple databases and search engines as well as using search terms related to financial education and searching based on results of findings and references used in previous research. The theoretical foundation consists of work advanced by Kahneman, Tversky, and Thaler regarding prospect theory, cumulative prospect theory, and quasi-rational

economics (choice architect) as well as additional concepts of general education, financial education, and financial literacy. The literature review consisted of previous research for financial education and financial literacy as well as concepts related to the variables of interest for this study including saving, investing, financial markets and products, spending and consumption, debt, assets, employment, income, wealth, generations, life cycle, relationships, general education, policies, society, demographics, minorities, and Cherokee individuals. The examination reveals that there is some debate regarding the effectiveness of financial education as well as uncertainty regarding how and when it should be conducted. This is especially true when examining subgroups of the population and is something that the current study will help to fill in the gap for understanding financial education related to demographics as a further study in general and a primary study for Cherokee Nation citizens.

In Chapter 3 the methodology related to the previous research and used for this study is discussed. There is also a discussion for the research design, population, sampling strategy, recruitment procedures, and operationalization of constructs used in this study that is similar to previous research studies. A discussion of the threats to validity as well as ethics is also provided.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of financial education. I looked at the impact on an individual's financial understanding as well as the related financial decisions that they make. Specifically, I analyzed the impact to individuals who are citizens of the Cherokee Nation to add to the literature and understanding of the impact of financial education for minorities.

This chapter includes a discussion of the research design and rationale for the study, the methodology, the data analysis plan, and threats to validity. The research design includes the research questions and variables as well as the connection to research designs used in the relevant field of knowledge. The methodology includes a discussion on the target population for this study, sampling and sampling procedures, procedures for recruitment and data collection, and instrumentation and operationalization of constructs. The data analysis plan includes a discussion on the statistical software used as well as relevant statistical tests and results interpretation plans. The threats to validity include a discussion on the relevant threats to both internal and external validity relevant for this study. Ethical procedures are also discussed in detail.

Research Design and Rationale

The research design for this study was a quantitative nonexperimental design—a causal comparative study using ex post facto research. This approach was selected for its ability to analyze the following research questions:

• To what extent does financial education affect individual savings?

- To what extent does financial education affect financial planning and decision making?
- To what extent do demographic factors affect financial planning and decision making?
- To what extent do demographic factors affect financial planning and decision making after financial education?
- To what extent do demographic factors affect savings?
- To what extent do demographic factors affect savings after financial education?

The dependent variables are savings and financial planning and decision making. Savings involves the amount that individuals save for future purposes. Financial planning and decision making involve the financial decisions individuals make with regard to their present and future objectives and circumstances. The independent variables are financial education and demographic factors including age, gender, education level, income level, marital status, and dependents.

This research design is one that is common for investigating the effects of financial education in the literature. Some form of comparative study, or similar, has been used in many studies analyzing the effects of financial education on individual knowledge and behavior (Fernandes et al., 2014). These types of research approaches are also common for studying the effects of financial education within a school environment in addition to a general environment for individuals domestically as well as globally (Kaiser & Menkhoff, 2019; Klapper & Lusardi, 2019).

Methodology

The methodology for this study consisted of a survey approach. The survey was a one-time survey to capture current information. The survey was sent via the U.S. Postal Service to addresses obtained via Cherokee Nation election records to reach residents living within Cherokee Nation areas in Oklahoma. Anonymous mailing methods can be useful for small or specific geographic regions and are likely to have similar response rates to first-class mail survey methods (Grubert, 2019). There can also be lower costs involved and significant anonymity.

Population

The target population for this study was individuals who are citizens of Cherokee Nation. According to Cherokee Nation (2019) there are approximately 370,000 citizens of the Cherokee Nation. This number represents the majority of individuals who are Cherokee; however, Cherokee Nation is just one of three overall Cherokee tribes. The other two tribes of Cherokee are the United Keetoowah Band and the Eastern Band. The number of citizens for each of these other two tribes is much smaller, and the combined number of citizens of all three Cherokee tribes is approximately 400,000. Though there are many Cherokee Nation citizens who live elsewhere, most live within the Cherokee Nation's jurisdiction. This area comprises 14 counties in northeastern Oklahoma, with the city of Tahlequah being the capital. As a result, though there are common differences through history and cultural integration with other native American tribes and American society in general, there is also still a strong presence of a shared history and culture as well as language that is representative of Cherokee Nation as a whole. This made the population easier to analyze for purposes of this study.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The sampling strategy for this study was a combination of non-random sampling strategies including convenience and quota sampling. The sampling frame consisted of individuals who are Cherokee Nation citizens and reside within Cherokee County, Oklahoma. According to Cherokee Nation (https://www.cherokee.org) there are more than 141,000 tribal citizens within its jurisdictional territory in northeastern Oklahoma. This represents a significant percentage of the overall population of Cherokee Nation citizens. As a result, it was convenient to sample from this territory. The Cherokee Election registration records were used to increase the likelihood of reaching larger numbers of Cherokee citizens. The list was divided into orders of residential areas in order of size from large to small with a random selection from each area until the required sample size was reached. This was done to meet quotas for participants for both individuals with higher levels of financial education and individuals with lesser levels of financial education.

The calculated sample size for this study was 278 participants. This represented a sample of 139 participants for both major groups consisting of individuals with at least some amount of financial education and those without financial education. This was determined through an a priori analysis using G*power software. This was determined using inputs of 0.3 for effect size, an alpha level of 0.05, and power of 0.80 for a difference between two independent means t test. A meta-analysis of more than 200

studies for financial education revealed only a very small effect size (Fernandes et al., 2014). Other research indicated that financial education can have moderate effects for objective and subjective financial literacy and corresponding financial behavior and financial satisfaction (Xiao & Porto, 2017). There has also been a sizeable effect for financial education (Kaiser & Menkhoff, 2019). For these reasons, an effect size of 0.3 was chosen to be able to detect small to slightly medium effects. The alpha and power levels were chosen to be reflective of most research as reflected and set by default standards in G*power software or common to social science research, where an alpha of 0.05 has been commonly used as the standard and power is usually within the range of 0.80 to 0.95 (Djimeu & Houndolo, 2016; Miller & Ulrich, 2019; Sovacool et al., 2018). As the study focused on the effects of financial education for a comparative design, with expectations that financial education results in improvements, a one tail *t* test was selected rather than a two-tailed *t* test.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection (Primary Data)

The procedures for recruitment of participants involved surveys sent to individuals by mail. Surveys were sent to individuals who reside within the largest areas in Cherokee County based on Cherokee election records. Individuals were recruited to the study based on whether they are citizens of Cherokee Nation. Information was provided about the study and participant recruitment criteria. The demographic data that were collected included age, gender, race or ethnicity, education, marital status, geographic location, living arrangements, dependent children, household annual income, and employment status. After the survey was completed for the required number of participants in the sample size, answers to the study questions were provided. This included answers to each of the financial literacy and behavior-based questions. This information was sent to all individuals who completed the survey, which served as debriefing and exit for the study.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

Financial education, financial literacy, and financial behavior are difficult to measure and analyze. There is no standard or formalized approach for studying these factors or for implementation for programs for them to be administered. In general, many studies devise their own methods for measurement and analysis. One of the most reliable sources for measuring financial literacy is a survey developed by Lusardi and Mitchell (2017). I used and built on earlier questions for measuring financial literacy that Lusardi and Mitchell developed, referred to as the big three questions. These questions are concept checking questions that ask about the amount of money that would be in a savings account after a certain amount of time given a beginning principal amount and interest rate, a similar question about interest on a savings account but with additional information for inflation rate, and a question designed to check understanding of investments by asking about company stock compared to a stock mutual fund. The reliability of these questions is relatively strong as evidenced by their use in several previous studies by Lusardi and Mitchell as well as other studies, including the FINRA Investor Education Foundation.

Lusardi and Mitchell (2017) also developed additional questions beyond the three to expand on the measurement of financial literacy. These questions were grouped according to skills associated with a basic level of financial understanding and that of a more advanced level of knowledge of financial topics. The basic questions include questions related to numeracy, compound interest, inflation, time value of money, and inflation/money illusion. The advanced questions include questions related to stock market functioning, knowledge of mutual funds, the link between interest rates and bond prices, risk and safety of investment alternative choices, long period returns, fluctuation and volatility, and risk diversification. In their study, the three questions related to stock and bond comparison, bond prices and interest rates relationship, and risk diversification had the word order reversed at random to improve upon internal consistency and reliability.

Lusardi and Mitchell (2017) also implemented questions to gauge individual perception about economic understanding as well as previous exposure to financial education. A question to assess the amount of time spent thinking about retirement as a way to judge the correlation between retirement planning and saving compared to financial literacy is included. The FINRA Investor Education Foundation has used the three basic questions created by Lusardi and Mitchell as well as expanded on them in their national financial capability studies in 2009, 2012, 2015, and 2018. These studies are conducted to analyze financial capability of individuals from a national level as well as individual state levels. The primary component of the study is the state-by-state individual surveys that contains a lot of breadth and therefore limited depth for topics covered, with a secondary follow-up survey of investors to measure investing decisions in more detail (FINRA Investor Education Foundation, 2020).

For purposes of this study, the research survey used the questions devised by Lusardi and Mitchell (2017) as well as the questions used by the FINRA Investor Education Foundation (2020). Both of these studies have been used with general populations including broad demographics. The FINRA studies have also been used regionally with geographic factors of each individual state in addition to an overall national analysis, with added reliability from the use of the study in multiple surveys over many years. These questions allowed for adequate analysis and comparison of the study groups that have received at least some financial education and those that have received no financial education, as well as provided for the possibility of comparison to previous results. Permission from both of these sources is included in appendix B and appendix C respectively.

Data Analysis Plan

As stated in chapter one, the research questions and hypotheses for this study consisted of the following:

RQ 1: To what extent does financial education affect individual savings?

 H_01 : Financial education does not affect individual savings.

 H_a 1: Financial education affects individual savings.

RQ 2: To what extent does financial education affect financial planning and decision making?

 H_02 : Financial education does not affect financial planning and decision making.

 H_a 2: Financial education affects financial planning and decision making.

RQ 3: To what extent do demographic factors affect financial planning and decision making?

 H_03 : Demographic factors do not affect financial planning and decision making.

 H_{a} 3: Demographic factors do affect financial planning and decision making.

RQ 4: To what extent do demographic factors affect financial planning and decision making after financial education?

 H_0 4: Demographic factors do not affect financial planning and decision making after financial education.

 H_{a} 4: Demographic factors do affect financial planning and decision making after financial education.

RQ 5: To what extent do demographic factors affect savings?

 H_05 : Demographic factors do not affect savings.

*H*_a5: Demographic factors do affect savings.

RQ 6: To what extent do demographic factors affect savings after financial education?

 H_06 : Demographic factors do not affect savings after financial education.

 $H_{a}6$: Demographic factors do affect savings after financial education.

The software that was used for the analyses was SPSS. The data were screened for consistency, accuracy, and completeness. Data for demographic information and survey responses were screened for valid responses, and data were inspected for completeness of responses. The design of the survey to included closed ended responses to reduce any potential invalid responses, and there were no invalid responses found in
the return survey responses. All responses on scaled questions included whole number responses, so no rounding was required. For each data analysis scenario, only completed responses were considered.

To determine the extent that financial education impacts savings, survey participants were divided into two groups consisting of those who have received at least some amount of financial education and those who have not received any financial education. These groups were analyzed using a chi-squared test for differences between groups, based on survey questions for saving and retirement.

To determine the extent that financial education impacts financial planning and decision making, the survey participants were divided into groups consisting of those with at least some amount of financial education and those without any financial education. These groups were analyzed using a difference between means independent samples *t* test, based on survey responses to the financial literacy questions and retirement planning for the total number of questions answered correctly.

To determine the extent that there are demographic differences for savings and financial planning and decision making the survey participants were analyzed based on demographic factors. For financial planning and decision making, a multiple regression analysis was used to examine the impact of various demographic factors on the total number of financial planning and decision making questions answered correctly. This was done for two groups, the first consisting of the individuals who did not have any financial education and the second group consisting of individuals who had at least some amount of financial education. The first group allowed for an analysis on the impact of demographic factors for individuals with financial education and the second group for the impact of demographics on individuals without financial education, respectively.

A similar approach was used for analyzing the impact of demographic factors for savings. The overall data were analyzed according to two groups, those with at least some amount of financial education and those without any financial education. These groups were analyzed according to the impact that demographics had on the amount of spending versus income for the last year for individuals using a multinomial logistic regression analysis.

In addition to the various analyses conducted for survey participants, results of this study were also qualitatively compared to the results of the two surveys used for this study, which are the survey by Lusardi and Mitchell (2017) and the state survey conducted by the FINRA Investor Education Foundation (2020). For comparison to the results of the FINRA Investor Education Foundation, the state survey for the state of Oklahoma was used as the survey participants for this study reside in the state of Oklahoma. In addition, this comparison also included a look at results of this study compared to the Oklahoma state survey results over time for the years of 2009, 2012, 2015, and 2018. Also, results of this study were compared to the FINRA Investor Education Foundation financial capability insights for Native Americans (Dewees & Mottola, 2017).

Threats to Validity

External Validity

According to Marquart (2017) the primary goal of researchers for external validity is to be able to generalize results to things that are outside of the study, such as other groups, other measures, different locations, and different times. A primary threat to external validity for this study was that of population validity or sampling bias. The study was a causal-comparative study so the participants were not selected for various treatment groups on a pure random basis as would be done with an experimental design. This led to the possibility that findings of the study may not correspond to the actual population of citizens of Cherokee Nation. This could not be completely controlled but could be partially mitigated by sampling based on a large geographic area and using data that were returned based on criteria that was representative of the population. The study thus attempted to obtain a relative number of participants based on the various demographic factors such as age and gender. The other category of financial education or no financial education also had potential generalizability issues based on the true reflection of the extent of financial education exposure for individuals in the community. Collecting multiple participants for each of the various categories allowed for a greater possible generalization to all citizens of Cherokee Nation than would be possible without this demographic emphasis.

Internal Validity

The primary threat to internal validity for this study was based on participant selection. For the causal-comparative research design in this study, the participants were

not randomly assigned. According to Busk (2014) a major difficulty of this research approach is to find comparable groups. A lack of comparable groups can result in differences in the observed findings being due to differences that are inherently an aspect of the groups themselves, rather than being due to any differences as a result of the variable being analyzed. While there may still be an actual difference in the groups because of the variable of interest, it is not possible to say for sure that this is actually the case or the primary reason for the difference. Accordingly, a causal-comparative research design can be strengthened by finding groups that are similar or comparable. Internal validity for this research method can be strengthened through a number of potential measures. One approach would be to use homogenous groups, where there are no differences, or the differences are minimal. Another method would be to use subject matching or pairing similar individuals within the groups for analysis. Yet another approach would be to use statistical methods, such as analysis of covariance or adjusted averages (Busk, 2014).

This study primarily used subject matching, when it was possible to do so. As the study looked at differences for demographic factors within the same primary group of Cherokee Nation citizens, overall group homogeneity was expected to be similar for different subsets of the overall group, though there could also be significant differences. As a result, the study looked at differences among subgroups while controlling for other factors. For example, examining gender differences were done with the only difference based on gender, comparing individuals who have similar demographics for other factors

such as age. These grouping methods and analysis were sufficient as the survey respondents were similar for factors of interest.

Construct Validity

The primary concern regarding construct validity was the ability for the survey to actually measure the effects of financial education. There are several potential methods to deal with this concern, including the use of multiple tests such as a pretest and posttest or a pilot study. Another way that validity can be improved is by measuring over time, as suggested for an improvement to financial satisfaction measurement (Xiao & Porto, 2017). Multiple measurements can also be used to determine the variance that is due to a particular construct by having multiple constructs measure the same thing (Kenny, 2019). This study used previous survey questions that have been used multiple times in previous research studies as well as by multiple researchers. The questions designed by Lusardi and Mitchell (2017) have been used multiple times by those researchers and others including the FINRA Investor Education Foundation, leading to multiple measurements and improving construct validity through different studies. The questions used by the FINRA Investor Education Foundation (2020) have been used in multiple studies consisting of the same design over many years, increasing validity through repeated measurements. As this study used a combination of these questions, threats to construct validity were reduced.

Ethical Procedures

This study relied upon the participation of individuals on a voluntary basis. There is some discussion related to the general approach and particulars of ethics that should be considered when undertaking quantitative research. In general, it is good practice to allow for data to drive any conclusions or values rather than derive values before collecting data. To some extent, there are always ethical considerations with regard to research, and various designs limit possible problems to varying degrees and despite these imperfections lead to reasonable methods and conclusions (Powell, 2019).

The materials used for recruitment of participation for individuals within the mail explicitly stated the voluntary nature of the study. As the study was a causal-comparative one in nature, there was not expected to be any adverse effects due to the lack of treatment. However, for all participants, a follow-up of standard correct answers to questions related to financial outcomes and knowledge were provided at the conclusion of data collection. This served as confirmation of participants to have access to financial knowledge related to the study.

The data that were collected were completely anonymous. While addresses were used to send recruitment material, it was necessary to receive addresses upon returned materials as postage paid envelopes were supplied for return and no identifying information were required or collected. All of the data collected were stored and accessed solely by this researcher. Correspondingly, upon completion of this study, all individual data collected were arranged to be thoroughly and completely destroyed according to accepted data destruction standards after required storage times. The IRB approval number for this study is 12-30-20-0124269.

Summary

In this chapter, the research design and rationale, methodology, population, sampling and sampling procedures, procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection, instrumentation and operationalization of constructs, data analysis plan, threats to external validity, threats to internal validity, threats to construct validity, and ethical procedures for the study were examined. The research design was a quantitative non-experimental design that was comparative in nature. It was based on similar research design approaches used in other studies for financial education. The methodology was a survey approach. The population of interest for the study were individuals who are members of the Cherokee Nation. The sampling and sampling procedures consisted of non-random sampling strategies. The combination consists of convenience and quota sampling specifically drawn from the largest geographic areas for Cherokee Nation territory. The procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection involved surveys sent through the mail. The instrumentation and operationalization of constructs involved the use of survey questions developed and used extensively by previous researchers. The data analysis plan was to analyze each research question with either an independent sample t test, chi-squared test, multiple regression, or multinomial regression as appropriate for each research question. The software chosen to be used for these analyses was SPSS. The threats to external validity revolved around generalizability and were somewhat mitigated by the collection of participants based on multiple demographic categories. The threats to internal validity were based on group selection and handled by pairing and statistical methods. The threats to construct validity were

reduced by using survey questions that have been used multiple times. The ethical procedures consisted of recruitment upon a voluntary basis with anonymous data collection.

In Chapter 4 the data that were collected for this study are provided. The data collection and a presentation of the results from analysis of the data is also provided. In addition results for the groups analyzed for financial education as well as demographic considerations for financial planning and decision making and savings are discussed.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of the study was to examine the effects of financial education with regard to citizens of Cherokee Nation. The research questions related to the extent that financial education affects individual savings and financial planning and the extent that demographics affect savings, and financial planning in general and after financial education. This chapter presents the results of the study. It includes a discussion of the data collection for this study as well as some descriptive statistics for the sample, followed by a presentation of the results of the study organized by research question.

Data Collection

Data collection for this study had no discrepancies from the original data collection and recruitment plan. Data were collected over a period of 12 weeks. Surveys were sent out based on random selections of 300 addresses from the Cherokee election records each week until the required number of responses based on calculated sample size was received. Three thousand six hundred surveys were sent out via USPS and a total of 302 valid responses (survey responses that answered the survey questions and that did not contain any obvious implausible answers for any of the survey questions) were received, for a response rate of 8.4%. Two invalid responses consisting of surveys that were returned blank and statements that the individuals did not wish to participate or were unable to participate were also received.

The number of participants in the study was 302. There was a greater percentage of females (57.3%) than males and older age groups were more represented than younger age groups, with individuals over the age of 65 being the largest group (26.2%). Most

individuals were high school or equivalent educated (35.4%) or had only some college education without a degree (22.5%). Most (67.9%) had incomes of less than 50,000 a year. Only 34.1% spent less than their income for last year, and 25.8% spent more than their income. One hundred and forty had some amount of financial education, whereas 162 did not have any financial education. More individuals were not married (57.9%) and had no dependents (61.3%). Many had a savings account, money market account, or certificate of deposit (65.2%), but most individuals did not have emergency funds (71.9%) or a non-employer sponsored retirement plan (80.8%). See Tables 1 and 2 for a summary of demographic information.

Table 1

Demographic	%	
Gender		
Male	42.7%	
Female	57.3%	
Age		
18–24	8.9%	
25–34	11.6%	
35–44	14.9%	
45–54	17.2%	
55-64	21.2%	
65+	26.2%	
Highest education level		
Below high school	13.6%	
High school or equivalent	35.4%	
Some college	22.5%	
Associate degree	8.3%	
Bachelor's degree	13.9%	
Post-graduate degree	6.3%	
Income		
Under 50k	67.9%	
50k or more	32.1%	
Spending versus income		
Spending less	34.1%	
Spending equal	40.1%	
Spending more	25.8%	

Demographics for Study Sample

Table 2

	Yes	No	
Had Financial Education	46.4%	53.6%	
Married	42.1%	57.9%	
Have Dependents	38.7%	61.3%	
Have Emergency Funds	28.1%	71.9%	
Have Savings	65.2%	34.8%	
Have Employer Retirement Plan	46%	54%	
Have Non-Employer Retirement Plan	19.2%	80.8%	
Contribute to Retirement	23.2%	76.8%	
Have Other Investments	21.2%	78.8%	

Yes or No Responses Regarding Demographics

The descriptive information for financial knowledge and decision making for this study showed that on average Cherokee Nation citizens were able to answer a total of 7.3 financial knowledge and decision-making questions correctly (see Table 8). Those with financial education answered an average of 11.6 questions correctly, whereas those without financial education answered an average of only 3.6 questions correctly. A greater number of total questions on average were answered correctly by men (7.8) than women (6.9). Those with less education, such as high school or equivalent (4.5) or no high school (2.3), performed worse than those with greater education, such as a bachelor's degree (12.6) or graduate degree (13.7). Individuals under age 45 performed better than older individuals, with age groups for under 45 all answering more than 10 questions correctly on average compared to 3.9 questions correct on average for those 65 and older. Marital status was similar for individuals married (7.1) and not married (7.5). Individuals with dependents (8.8) performed better than individuals without dependents (6.4). Individuals who earned an income of at least 50,000 a year were able to answer an average of 11.8 questions correctly, whereas individuals who earned less than 50,000 a

year answered an average of 5.2 questions correctly. In addition, only 29.7% of Cherokee Nation citizens were able to answer more than 10 questions correctly, with 70.3% of individuals answering 10 or fewer questions correctly.

Table 3

95%CI Mean SD Total 7.3 [6.7, 7.9] 5.0 [11.1, 12.1] Financial 11.6 3.1 Education No Financial 3.6 2.8 [3.2, 4.0] Education 7.8 5.2 [6.9, 8.7]Men Women 6.9 [6.2, 7.6] 4.8 No HS 2.3 1.5 [1.8, 2.8] HS or Equivalent 4.5 4.3 [3.7, 5.3] Some College 8.3 2.9 [7.6, 9.1] Associate 10.9 3.4 [9.5, 12.3] Bachelor 12.6 2.5 [11.8, 13.4] 2.1 Graduate 13.7 [12.7, 14.8] 3.5 [8.7, 11.5] 18-24 10.1 25-34 10.7 3.5 [9.5, 11.9] 35-44 10.9 3.6 [9.8, 12.0] 45-54 8.2 4.9 [6.9, 9.6]55-64 5.1 4.5 [4.0, 6.3] 65 +3.9 4.0 [3.1, 4.8] Married 7.1 4.8 [6.2, 7.9] Not Married 7.5 5.1 [6.7, 8.2] Dependents 8.8 4.6 [7.9, 9.6] No Dependents 4.9 6.4 [5.6, 7.1] 50K or More 11.8 [11.1, 12.5] 3.6 Less than 50K 5.2 4.0 [4.6, 5.7]

Average Total Number of Financial Knowledge and Decision-Making Questions Answered Correctly

Note. Number of questions answered correctly could range from 0 to 16.

Study Results

RQ1: To What Extent Does Financial Education Affect Individual Savings?

A chi-squared test of independence was used to examine differences between groups of individuals who had financial education and those who did not for spending compared to income for last year as well as various types of savings including having emergency funds for three months, having a type of savings account, having an employer retirement plan, having a non-employer retirement plan, contributing to a retirement account, and having investments outside of a retirement account. For individuals with financial education, the percentage of people spending less than their income (63.6%) was higher compared to individuals without financial education (8.6%). Individuals with financial education also had a lower percentage (9.3%) spending more than their income compared to individuals without financial education (40.1%; see Table 4). These results were significant, χ^2 (2, N = 302) = 104.97, p < .001.

Table 4

	Spending Less	Spending Equal	Spending More	Total
Financial	89	38	13	140
Education				
No Financial	14	83	65	162
Education				
Total	103	121	78	302

The percentage of individuals with emergency funds to cover expenses for three months was higher for individuals with financial education (57.9%) than for individuals

without financial education (2.5%) and the percentage of individuals without emergency funds was lower for those with financial education (42.1%) than those without financial education (97.5%; see Table 5). These results were significant, χ^2 (1, N = 302) = 111.20, p < .001.

Table 5

Financial Education Impact on Emergency Fund
--

	Have	Not Have Emergency	Total
	Emergency	Funds	
	Funds		
Financial Education	81	59	140
No Financial Education	4	158	162
Total	85	217	302

The percentage of individuals with a savings account, money market account, or certificates of deposit was higher for individuals with financial education (96.4%) than for individuals without financial education (38.3%) and the percentage of individuals without any of these was lower for those with financial education (3.6%) than those without financial education (61.7%). These results were significant, χ^2 (1, *N* = 302) = 109.45, *p* < .001.

Table 6

Financial Ea	ducation	Impact of	on Savings .	Accounts
--------------	----------	-----------	--------------	----------

	Have Savings Account	Not Have Savings Account	Total
Financial Education	135	5	140
No Financial	62	100	162
Education			
Total	197	105	302

The percentage of individuals with a retirement plan through a current or former employer was higher for individuals with financial education (77.1%) than for individuals without financial education (19.1%) and the percentage of individuals without employer retirement plans was lower for those with financial education (22.9%) than those without financial education (80.9%; see Table 7). These results were significant, χ^2 (1, N = 302) = 99.40, p < .001.

Table 7

Financial Education Impact on Employer Sponsored Retirement Accounts

	Have Employer	Not Have Employer	Total
	Retirement	Retirement	
Financial Education	108	32	140
No Financial	31	131	162
Education			
Total	139	163	302

The percentage of individuals with retirement plans that are not through an employer was higher for individuals with financial education (36.4%) than for individuals without financial education (4.3%) and the percentage of individuals without these retirement plans was lower for those with financial education (63.6%) than those without financial education (95.7%; see Table 8). These results were significant, χ^2 (1, N = 302) = 47.85, p < .001.

Table 8

Financial Edi	ucation Impact	on Non-Empl	loyer Sponsored	Retirement A	Accounts
---------------	----------------	-------------	-----------------	--------------	----------

	Have Non-Employer	Not Have Non-	Total
	Retirement	Employer Retirement	
Financial Education	51	89	140
No Financial Education	7	155	162
Total	58	244	302

The percentage of individuals who regularly contribute to a retirement account was higher for individuals with financial education (45.7%) than for individuals without financial education (3.7%) and the percentage of individuals who did not regularly contribute to a retirement account was lower for those with financial education (54.3%) than those without financial education (96.3%; see Table 9). These results were significant, χ^2 (1, N = 302) = 72.10, p < .001.

Table 9

Financial Education Impact on Retirement Contributions

	Contribute to Retirement	Not Contribute to Retirement	Total
Financial Education	64	76	140
No Financial Education	6	156	162
Total	70	232	302

The percentage of individuals with investments in stocks, bonds, mutual funds, or other securities outside of a retirement account was higher for individuals with financial education (43.6%) than for individuals without financial education (1.9%) and the percentage of individuals without emergency funds was lower for those with financial education (56.4%; see Table 10) than those without financial education (98.1%). These results were significant, χ^2 (1, N = 302) = 75.79, p < .001.

Table 10

Financial Education Impact on Non-Retirement Investments

	Have Non-Retirement	Not Have Non-Retirement	Total
	Investments	Investments	
Financial Education	61	79	140

No Financial	3	159	162
Education			
Total	64	238	302

RQ2: To What Extent Does Financial Education Affect Financial Planning and Decision Making?

To examine the relationship between financial education and financial planning and decision making an independent samples *t* test was conducted for groups with and without financial education with regard to the number of questions answered correctly for financial planning and decision making. The groups did differ significantly, t(300) =23.27, *p* < .001, d = 2.69, 95% CI [7.32, 8.67]. The d value of 2.69 is Cohen's d for a measure of effect size, calculated as the mean difference divided by the pooled variance for an independent samples t test. The mean for the financial education group (*M* = 11.6, *SD* = 3.1) was significantly different than the mean for the no financial education group (*M* = 3.6, *SD* = 2.8).

To further examine this relationship and test if financial education increased the number of questions answered correctly for financial planning and decision making, a one-tailed independent samples *t* test was conducted. The average number of questions answered correctly for the financial education group (M = 11.6, SD = 3.1) was statistically significantly higher than the number of questions answered correctly for the no financial education group (M = 3.6, SD = 2.8), t(300) = 23.27, *p* < .001, d = 2.69, 95% CI [at least 7.43].

RQ3: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Financial Planning and Decision Making?

To assess this research question, a multiple regression was performed to evaluate the predictive capability of age, gender, marital status, having dependent children, education level, and income had for the number of financial planning and decision making questions answered correctly for individuals who did not have financial education. Relevant assumptions for the test were met. Residuals showed independence (Durbin-Watson statistic = 1.74). Plots of standardized residuals against predicted values showed both linearity and homoscedasticity assumptions to be valid. All Pearson correlation coefficients were greater than -.7 and less than .7 and tolerance and variance inflation factors respectively were .94 and 1.07 for gender; .49 and 2.04 for age; .50 and 2.02 for education level; .66 and 1.52 for marital status; .66 and 1.51 for dependent children; and .85 and 1.17 for income which indicated no problems with multicollinearity. No highly influential points were detected (Cook's Distance values were all below 1).

Table 11

Variables	В	SE	t	р	95%CI
Constant	4.19	1.10	3.82	.000	[2.03, 6.36]
Gender	36	.29	-1.23	.220	[94, .22]
Age	63	.13	-4.78	.000	[89,37]
Education	1.45	.19	7.52	.000	[1.07, 1.83]
Marital	59	.36	-1.66	.099	[-1.30, .11]
Status					
Dependents	02	.39	06	.955	[80, .75]
Income	.33	.56	.58	.560	[78, 1.43]

Regression Coefficients for Demographics for Individuals without Financial Education

Note. Number of questions answered correctly could range from 0 to 16.

The regression model using the enter method was significant F(6, 155) = 42.15, p < .001, explaining $62\%(R^2 = .62)$ of the variance in the number of questions answered correctly. Age ($\beta = -.34$, p < .001) and education level ($\beta = .53$, p < .001) both contributed significantly to the model. Gender ($\beta = -.06$, p = .220), marital status ($\beta = -.10$, p = .099), having dependent children ($\beta = -.00$, p = .955), and income ($\beta = .03$, p = .560) all did not contribute significantly to the model.

Gender, marital status, having dependent children, and income were removed from the model and multiple regression analysis was conducted again for predicting the number of questions correct for financial planning and decision making with the remaining variables of age and education level. Relevant assumptions for the test were met. Residuals showed independence (Durbin-Watson statistic = 1.81). Plots of standardized residuals against predicted values showed both linearity and homoscedasticity assumptions to be valid. The Pearson correlation coefficient was -.56 for age and education level and tolerance and variance inflation factors respectively were .69 and 1.45 for age and education level which indicated no problems with multicollinearity. No highly influential points were detected (Cook's Distance values were all below 1).

Table 12

Regression Coefficients for Age and Education Level for Individuals without Financial Education

Variables	В	SE	t	р	95%CI
Constant	2.64	.79	3.32	.001	[1.07, 4.20]
Age	53	.11	-4.80	.000	[75,31]
Education	1.60	.16	9.78	.000	[1.28, 1.93]

Note. Number of questions answered correctly could range from 0 to 16.

The regression model using the enter method was significant F(2, 159) = 123.66, p < .001, explaining $60.9\%(R^2 = .61)$ of the variance in the number of questions answered correctly. Age ($\beta = -.29$, p < .001) and education level ($\beta = .58$, p < .001) both contributed significantly to the model.

RQ4: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Financial Planning and Decision Making After Financial Education?

To assess this research question, a multiple regression was performed to evaluate the predictive capability of age, gender, marital status, having dependent children, education level, and income had for the number of financial planning and decision making questions answered correctly for individuals who had financial education. Relevant assumptions for the test were met. Residuals showed independence (Durbin-Watson statistic = 1.73). Plots of standardized residuals against predicted values showed both linearity and homoscedasticity assumptions to be valid. All Pearson correlation coefficients were greater than -.7 and less than .7 and tolerance and variance inflation factors respectively were .97 and 1.04 for gender; .59 and 1.69 for age; .54 and 1.86 for education level; .62 and 1.61 for marital status; .59 and 1.69 for dependent children; and .51 and 1.95 for income which indicated no problems with multicollinearity. No highly influential points were detected (Cook's Distance values were all below 1).

Table 13

Regression Coefficients for Demographics for Individuals with Financial Education

Variables	В	SE	t	р	95%CI
Constant	12.08	1.44	8.41	.000	[9.24, 14.92]

Gender	94	.45	-2.09	.038	[-1.82,05]
Age	47	.20	-2.36	.020	[86,08]
Education	.41	.22	1.90	.060	[02, .84]
Marital	83	.56	-1.49	.139	[-1.92, .27]
Status					
Dependents	24	.57	42	.674	[-1.36, .89]
Income	2.49	.62	4.00	.000	[1.26, 3.72]

Note. Number of questions answered correctly could range from 0 to 16.

The regression model using the enter method was significant F(6, 133) = 12.02, p < .001, explaining 35.2% ($R^2 = .35$) of the variance in the number of questions answered correctly. Gender ($\beta = -.15$, p = .038), age ($\beta = -.21$, p = .020), and income ($\beta = .39$, p < .001) all contributed significantly to the model. Education level ($\beta = .18$, p = .060), marital status ($\beta = -.13$, p = .139), and having dependent children ($\beta = -.04$, p = .674) all did not contribute significantly to the model.

Education level, marital status, and having dependent children were removed from the model and multiple regression analysis was conducted again for predicting the number of questions correct for financial planning and decision making with the remaining variables of gender, age, and income. Relevant assumptions for the test were met. Residuals showed independence (Durbin-Watson statistic = 1.69). Plots of standardized residuals against predicted values showed both linearity and homoscedasticity assumptions to be valid. All Pearson correlation coefficients were greater than -.7 and less than .7 and tolerance and variance inflation factors respectively were .98 and 1.02 for gender; .84 and 1.19 for age; and .83 and 1.21 for income which indicated no problems with multicollinearity. No highly influential points were detected (Cook's Distance values were all below 1).

Table 14

Regression Coefficients for Gender, Age, and Income for Individuals with Financial Education

Variables	В	SE	t	р	95%CI
Constant	12.89	.91	14.13	.000	[11.08,
					14.69]
Gender	94	.46	-2.05	.042	[-1.84,03]
Age	58	.17	-3.35	.001	[92,24]
Income	3.48	.51	6.90	.000	[2.48, 4.48]

Note. Number of questions answered correctly could range from 0 to 16.

The regression model using the enter method was significant F(3, 136) = 19.04, p < .001, explaining 29.6% ($R^2 = .30$) of the variance in the number of questions answered correctly. Gender ($\beta = -.15$, p = .042), age ($\beta = -.26$, p = .001), and income ($\beta = .55$, p < .001) all contributed significantly to the model.

RQ5: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Savings?

To examine this research question, a multinomial logistic regression was conducted for the independent variable of spending compared to income for the last year and the demographic variables of gender, age, education level, marital status, having dependents, and income for individuals without financial education. The overall model was found to be significant, χ^2 (26) = 174.10, p < .001. Pearson's chi-square indicated the model fit the data well, χ^2 (94) = 25.46, p = 1.00. The Deviance chi-square also indicated a good fit, χ^2 (94) = 31.95, p = 1.00. The Nagelkerke pseudo-R-square was .78 indicating a high percentage of explanatory ability. Gender, χ^2 (2) = 1.20, p = .549 and marital status, χ^2 (2) = .66, p = .720 were found to not be significant, whereas age, χ^2 (10) = 116.62, p < .001, education level, $\chi^2(8) = 61.64$, p < .001, having dependents, $\chi^2(2) = 59.57$, p < .001, and income $\chi^2(2) = 49.56$, p < .001 were all found to be significant.

Gender and marital status were removed from the analysis and the overall model was found to be significant, χ^2 (22) = 172.34, p < .001. Pearson's chi-square indicated the model fit the data well, χ^2 (38) = 1.35, p = 1.00. The Deviance chi-square also indicated a good fit, χ^2 (38) = 1.70, p = 1.00. The Nagelkerke pseudo-R-square was .78 indicating a high percentage of explanatory ability. Age, χ^2 (10) = 140.28, p < .001, education level, χ^2 (8) = 72.77, p < .001, having dependents, χ^2 (2) = 71.07, p < .001, and income χ^2 (2) = 57.21, p < .001 were all found to be significant. There were no significant differences between levels for any of these factors however, as all p values were greater than .05. **RQ6: To What Extent Do Demographic Factors Affect Savings After Financial Education?**

To examine this research question, a multinomial logistic regression was conducted for the independent variable of spending compared to income for the last year and the demographic variables of gender, age, education level, marital status, having dependents, and income for individuals with financial education. The overall model was found to be significant, χ^2 (26) = 90.32, p < .001. Pearson's chi-square indicated the model fit the data well, χ^2 (132) = 153.95, p = .093. The Deviance chi-square also indicated a good fit, χ^2 (132) = 105.58, p = .956. The Nagelkerke pseudo-R-square was .58 indicating a relatively high percentage of explanatory ability. Income, χ^2 (2) = 17.93, p < .001 was found to be significant while gender, χ^2 (2) = 3.30, p = .193, age, χ^2 (10) = 16.71, p = .081, education level, χ^2 (8) = 4.74, p = .785, marital status, χ^2 (2) = 3.84, p = .147, and having dependents $\chi^2(2) = 2.72$, p = .257 were all factors found to be not significant.

Table 15

Impact of Income on Spending Vs Income for the Last Year for Individuals with Financial Education

	Spending Less	Spending Equal	Spending More	Total
50K or More	73	11	0	84
Less than 50K	16	27	13	56
Total	89	38	13	140

A chi-squared test was used to further examine the relationship between income and spending compared to income for the last year. For individuals with income equal to or greater than 50,000, the percentage of people spending less than their income (86.9%) was higher than the percentage of individuals with income less than 50,000 spending less than their income (28.6%). Conversely, the percentages of individuals above this income threshold spending the same or more than their income were respectively 13.1% and 0% whereas for individuals below this income threshold the percentages for spending the same and spending more than income were respectively 48.2% and 23.2%. These results were found to be significant, χ^2 (2, *N*= 140) = 52.75, *p* < .001.

Summary

Results of this study indicated that for the first research question, individuals who had financial education had higher percentages of spending less than their income and lower percentages of spending more than their income compared to individuals without financial education. In addition, individuals with financial education were more likely to have emergency savings, a type of savings account, an employer retirement account, a non-employer retirement account, and investments outside of a retirement account than individuals without financial education. They were also more likely to contribute to retirement accounts. For the second research question, individuals with financial education scored significantly higher than individuals without financial education for the number of questions answered correctly for financial planning and decision making. For the third research question, age and education level were found to be significant predictors of financial planning and decision making for individuals without financial education. For the fourth research question, gender, age, and income were found to be significant predictors of financial planning and decision making for individuals with financial education. For the fifth research question, age, education level, having dependents, and income were found to be significant indicators for predicting spending compared to income for individuals without financial education. For the sixth research question, only income was found to be a significant indicator for predicting spending compared to income for individuals with financial education.

Chapter 5 discusses the interpretation of these results. It includes a discussion for the results with previous research findings and theoretical foundations and a discussion for the descriptive study information. It also discusses limitations of the study and recommendations for future studies in addition to implications of the study. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this nonexperimental, ex post facto study was to examine the impact of financial education on saving and financial literacy and understanding and decision making for citizens of Cherokee Nation. Key findings of the study were that financial education has a significant impact on financial knowledge and decision making as well as saving and types of investments that individuals have, increasing both knowledge and decision making and saving. These results were similar to previous research, and Cherokee Nation citizens had similarly low levels of saving and financial knowledge and decision making. Age and education were the significant demographic factors for financial planning and decision making for individuals without financial education. For saving, age, education, dependents, and income were significant demographic factors for individuals without financial education, and income was the significant demographic factor for individuals with financial education.

Interpretation of Findings

The demographics of the study are similar to the demographics for Native Americans in the FINRA Investor Education Foundation's 2015 National Financial Capability Study. In that study, 61% of the 591 participants were female, 31% had an income of 50,000 or more, 41% were married, 37% had dependents, and 21% had a college degree (Dewees & Mottola, 2017). In this study, 57.3% of the 302 participants were female, 32.1% had an income of 50,000 or more, 42.1% were married, 38.7% had dependents, and 28.5% had some type of college degree. The results of this study are thus likely generalizable to Native Americans in general in addition to Cherokee Nation citizens.

Results of this study indicated that 25.8% of Cherokee Nation citizens spent more than their income, and 34.1% spent less than their income. This compares to the results for Native Americans in the FINRA Investor Education Foundation's 2015 National Financial Capability Study where 19% spent more than their income and 37% spent less than their income (Dewees & Mottola, 2017). For the state of Oklahoma for the 2009, 2012, 2015, and 2018 FINRA Investor Education Foundation National Financial Capability studies, 21%, 20%, 17%, and 17% of individuals spent more than their incomes respectively, and for the United States as a whole 20%, 19%, 18%, and 19% of individuals spent more than their income respectively (FINRA Investor Education Foundation, 2020). Therefore there appears to be more Cherokee Nation citizens spending more than their income than for the region and the nation.

The results of this study also indicated that Cherokee Nation citizens were able to answer an average of 7.3 questions correctly, and 29.7% of individuals were able to answer more than 10 questions correctly (or more than 62.5% of questions). By comparison, 73% of Native Americans, 80% of African Americans, 74% of Hispanics, 62% of Asian-Americans, and 57% of Whites answered 60% or less of the financial literacy questions correctly in the FINRA Investor Education Foundation's 2015 National Financial Capability Study (Dewees & Mottola, 2017). For the state of Oklahoma in 2009, 2012, 2015, and 2018 there were 59%, 62%, 64%, and 66% of participants who answered 60% or less of the financial literacy questions correctly in the FINRA Investor Education Foundation's National Financial Capability Study, and for the entire United States in 2009, 2012, 2015, and 2018 the rates of individuals answering the same percentage or less correctly were 58%, 61%, 63%, and 66% respectively. This indicates that Cherokee Nation citizens are performing among the worst of the minority groups in an environment where scores seem to be declining on average in the region and in the nation.

Results from the analysis for the first research question of this study showed that financial education has a significant impact on savings. Individuals with financial education are more likely to spend less than their income and have some savings than those without financial education. They are also more likely to having savings and retirement accounts as well as to contribute to retirement accounts and have additional types of investments. This matches previous research findings that lower savings is associated with lower levels of financial literacy and that financial education can lead to increased levels of savings (Reich & Berman, 2015). This study also supports previous findings that individuals with financial education have a better understanding of the impact of spending and the importance of investing (Anderson & Card, 2015). In addition, it supports findings that individuals with financial education have better investing activity (Walstad et al., 2017). These results also align with the conceptual framework that an increase in financial education leads to improved savings through better decisions (Tannahill, 2012). The theoretical foundation of prospect theory indicates that individuals should make better saving and investment choices after receiving

financial education (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). This is possible because of information availability from the knowledge that is gained (Thaler, 1980).

Results from the analysis for the second research question of this study showed that individuals with financial education were significantly more likely to have higher levels of financial literacy, answering more questions correctly for financial planning and decision making than individuals without financial education. This lends support to previous research that indicates that individuals with financial education have greater financial knowledge (Walstad et al., 2017) in addition to research that indicates that financial education leads to increased financial literacy capability and corresponding financial behavior (Alsemgeest, 2015; Collins & Odders-White, 2015; Grable & Rabbani, 2020). These results also align with the conceptual framework that an increase in financial education leads to greater financial knowledge and decision making (Tannahill, 2012). In addition, the results align according to theoretical foundations that an increase in knowledge such as financial education should lead to better financial decision making through an increase in ability to assess factors of risk and choice (Tversky & Kahneman, 1992). A greater understanding of investments resulting from financial education also helps to avoid things such as information classification errors (Thaler, 1985).

Results from the analysis for the third research question of this study showed that demographic factors for individuals without financial education do play a role in financial planning and decision making. Age and education level were found to be the most significant demographic factors for those without financial education and were able to explain over half of the variance in answering financial planning and decision-making questions correctly. Other demographic factors were not found to be significant. This finding supports previous research showing the interaction of education with other demographic factors in importance for financial education (Skagerlund et al., 2018).

Results from the analysis for the fourth research question showed that demographic factors also play a role in financial planning and decision making for individuals with financial education. Gender, age, and income were all significant factors for predicting ability to answer questions for financial planning and decision making, whereas education level, marital status, and having dependents were not significant. Gender, age, and income were able to predict almost a third of the variance for questions answered correctly. These results support previous research showing significant differences in financial education for gender (Bucher-Koenen et al., 2017; Farrell et al., 2016). The results also support previous research that indicates that individuals with more income tend to have better financial literacy and corresponding financial behavior and ability (Carvalho et al., 2016; Netemeyer et al., 2017).

Results from the analysis for the fifth research question of this study showed that demographic factors play a role in savings for individuals without financial education. Age, education level, having dependents, and income were all significant demographic factors with a high level of explaining ability for predicting individual spending compared to income for the last year. These results support previous research that individuals with less income face more stress and are less likely to have saving ability (Netemeyer et al., 2017). They also support previous research indicating the importance of education for issues that involve topics based on numbers such as saving ((Skagerlund et al., 2018). Further the results extend previous research indicating the importance of family demographics for financial behavior and saving (Ward & Lynch, 2019).

Results from the analysis for the sixth research question of this study showed that demographic factors play a role in savings for individuals with financial education. However, the only individual demographic factor found to be significant was income. Individuals earning an income of at least 50,000 were very likely to be spending less than their income and thus saving while individuals earning less than 50,000 were more likely to spend the same as their income or more than their income and thus saving less or not at all. No individuals earning at least 50,000 spent more than their income. These results support previous findings that individuals with more income are likely to have better saving behavior (Carvalho et al., 2016; Netemeyer et al., 2017).

Limitations of the Study

The limitations of this study include some general limitations such as population, time, and instrumentation. Survey questions used for analysis in the study as well as the financial education individuals may have received prior to the study are inherently limited in nature as well as scope. The questions themselves were closed-ended questions of a limited number for a limited selection of topics. The study consisted of a single survey without any opportunity to ask additional questions as a follow up to any initial answers provided or to clarify answers to original questions. The lack of any interview component also resulted in an inability to fully assess and validity issues for responses, or to verify that responses were given by the actual participants as opposed to someone potentially answering on their behalf, as might be the case in the instance of households with more than one member receiving a survey. As a result, there are many possible considerations that could impact results that were not able to be captured in this study. In addition, the validity of these survey instruments cannot be fully tested but are assumed to be valid.

Another issue for this study is that different groups were used for the study of financial education. There is a lack of data for what individuals may have known before receiving financial education in the case of the group that had financial education, or what they might know after receiving financial education in the case of the group without financial education. In addition, there was no observation of the groups to confirm any actual behavior that may result from financial education, nor was there any information gathered on the type of financial education received, its quality, or any other details related to the education. There were also no observations over any period of time to examine any potential time effects. It is also not possible to study the entire population and it is thus assumed that the study is representative, which while likely based on study methods and analysis, cannot be guaranteed from a single study.

A final limitation for this study arose as a result of unique circumstances in the United States as well as the entire world during the time of this study, namely the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic disrupted normal life in many ways, and its impact on participants during the time of this study, such as income and saving, are excluded from this study. These factors may have an impact on the results of this study.

Recommendations

One recommendation for future research is to repeat this study. As the study was conducted during the time of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that there could have been an impact from the pandemic on the results of the study and it would be beneficial to repeat the study during a time when conditions may be more reflective of normal circumstances. This would allow for an analysis of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on financial education and saving and financial decision making as well, so that any programs arising to deal with the impact will have more information to consider any possible program additions or changes that may be necessary as a result. The other reason to repeat this study is that this study was the first study to examine the impact of financial education for Cherokee Nation citizens specifically and additional studies would provide support for the results or offer new additional insights that are needed.

Another recommendation for future research is to sample other Cherokee groups for analysis. This study examined the impact of financial education on Cherokee Nation citizens. However, there are three federally recognized Cherokee tribes. The other two tribes, consisting of United Keetoowah Band of Cherokee Indians and the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians, were not included in the sample and may have different results. There could potentially be additional regional differences as well, as the United Keetoowah Band of Cherokee Indians is in the same region in Oklahoma as Cherokee Nation, while the Eastern Band of Cherokee Indians are in North Carolina.

Future research can also look at the impact of financial education over a period of time. This study used a survey to capture information at only one point in time, and thus

there is still no information on any potential impacts of time. This research could answer questions regarding the lasting effects of financial education or if there are any significant additional factors impacting knowledge and behavior.

The research in this study was non-experimental. As a result, the information gathered is limited to an analysis on what already exists by chance. Future research can analyze the impact of financial education on financial knowledge and decision making for Cherokee Nation citizens by using an experimental approach. This will allow for data to be gathered on the pure impact of financial education as groups can be studied both before and after the financial education is given to individuals, along with a control group that does not receive any financial education given to them.

Future research can also analyze the impact of financial education on financial decision making and saving for Cherokee Nation citizens using a qualitative approach instead of a quantitative approach. This study used a quantitative approach and thus the information gathered is limited to specific data points. A qualitative study allows for additional insights to be gained through such methods as interviews and discussions with the individual participants. This information has yet to be captured and would provide valuable insights to both current theory and research as well as any potential financial education programs that may be established to benefit Cherokee Nation citizens and other individuals.

Another recommendation for future research is to conduct studies that are mixed with individuals who are citizens of Cherokee Nation and individuals from other ethnic groups. The data gathered in this study were limited to only Cherokee Nation citizens and thus there is no existing direct comparative information for differences in groups for the impact of financial education. Gathering this type of information for analysis would allow for additional insights regarding financial education programs and the potential need for any tailoring of such programs for different groups of individuals.

A final recommendation for future research is to analyze different forms of financial education for individual citizens of Cherokee Nation. The research gathered in this study looked only at individuals who had some amount of financial education regardless of what type of education it was, where and when it was received, how it was delivered, or any analysis of its quality and content. Future research can capture this information by using specific financial education programs and methods to see which type of financial education and how much financial education would provide the most benefits for individuals.

Implications

The implications of this study consist of multiple potential positive social change benefits and theoretical considerations. The first impact is potential positive social change for individual citizens of Cherokee Nation. Results of this study can be used to understand the factors that impact the lives of individuals financially, which has connections to all other aspects of their lives. Improving financial knowledge leads to greater positive benefits from increased saving to better investment choices for a variety of individual needs including funds for emergency situations, saving for general purposes, and retirement planning and saving. It is thus important that individual Cherokee Nation citizens receive financial education so that any financial duress can be
reduced, and financial well-being can be improved, which is likely to lead to related improvements in their lives for factors such as health, self-reliance and independence, work-life balance, and retirement.

Improving financial knowledge and decision making and saving for individuals has positive social change implications for families as well. Households consisting of individual members with financial knowledge are likely to benefit economically from greater amounts of saving and better financial decision making. While this benefit is likely from one member having financial knowledge, multiple members having adequate financial knowledge are likely to lead to greater benefits. These benefits can lead to potential reductions in current poverty rates and generational poverty and improved overall financial well-being for both immediate family members as well as potentially extended family members as well.

A greater amount of financial knowledge and better financial decision making and greater saving has many positive social change implications for Cherokee Nation itself. Currently there are many individual Cherokee Nation citizens with low levels of financial knowledge and low levels of saving. This financial stress has led to the direct need for many Cherokee Nation tribal services, such as economic assistance programs. There are currently no services offered by Cherokee Nation for comprehensive financial education. This study could be used as evidence for decision makers within Cherokee Nation to consider new policies of offering comprehensive financial education for citizens of Cherokee Nation. Providing such a service could lead to improved financial ability of Cherokee Nation citizens which would result in a corresponding reduced need for tribal services such as economic assistance. This would then lead to Cherokee Nation having greater amounts of resources available for other needs within the community and jurisdiction of Cherokee Nation, resulting in potential positive social changes in other aspects of the lives of Cherokee Nation citizens through greater resource availability for existing programs and the potential creation of new additional programs.

The implications of this study also consist of positive social changes for society as well. Cherokee Nation is integrated within the northeast Oklahoma community in general, with many ties and partnerships to local governments and businesses. This study indicates that greater amounts of financial knowledge can lead to increased saving and better financial decision making and investment choices. This could result in positive social changes for the community in the form of investment in business, purchasing ability and choices, and less strain on community resources from individual Cherokee Nation citizens in addition to Cherokee Nation itself having more resources freed to be used for the purpose of enhancing and extending current community partnerships as well as the creation of new community partnerships that can benefit both Cherokee Nation citizens as well as general community members.

Results of this study have synergistic implications for current theory and research. Results indicated that financial education results in greater saving and better financial decision making for individual Cherokee Nation citizens. These results support current research on financial education. They also lend additional support to the theories of prospect theory and quasi-rational economics.

Conclusions

There are many aspects that are important to a high-quality life for an individual. One of the most important of these aspects is undoubtedly financial well-being. In order to maximize the potential for adequate financial well-being, individuals need to have adequate financial literacy so that they can make the best choices for saving, spending, and investment for both the present as well as their future. There is currently a significant lack of financial literacy in society in general, and this problem is worse for many minority groups, including citizens of Cherokee Nation. This study added to current theory and research and showed that there is a significant impact of financial education on financial knowledge and decision making and saving and investment. Demographic factors were also showed to play a key role for individuals with and without financial education. This information can be used to create financial education programs that will lead to much needed improvements in financial literacy creating positive social change in the lives of Cherokee Nation citizens, Cherokee Nation, and the surrounding community that will be beneficial for both the present and the future.

References

Agarwal, S., & Mazumder, B. (2013). Cognitive abilities and household financial decision making. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 5(1), 193– 207. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.5.1.193

Agnew, J. R., Bateman, H., Eckert, C., Iskhakov, F., Louviere, J., & Thorp, S. (2018). First impressions matter: An experimental investigation of online financial advice. *Management Science*, 64(1), 288–307. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2016.2590

- Al-Bahrani, A., Weathers, J., & Patel, D. (2019). Racial differences in the returns to financial literacy education. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(2), 572–599.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12205
- Allgood, S., & Walstad, W. B. (2016). The effects of perceived and actual financial literacy on financial behaviors. *Economic Inquiry*, 54(1), 675–697. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecin.12255
- Alsemgeest, L. (2015). Arguments for and against financial literacy education: Where to go from here? *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 39(2), 155–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12163

Anderson, C., & Card, K. (2015). Effective practices of financial education for college students: Students' perceptions of credit card use and financial responsibility.
 College Student Journal, 49(2), 271–279.

https://www.projectinnovation.com/college-student-journal.html

Bannier, C. E., & Neubert, M. (2016). Gender differences in financial risk taking: The

role of financial literacy and risk tolerance. *Economics Letters*, 145, 130–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2016.05.033

- Barcellos, S. H., Carvalho, L. S., Smith, J. P., & Yoong, J. (2016). Financial education interventions targeting immigrants and children of immigrants: Results from a randomized control trial. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 50(2), 263–285. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12097
- Batty, M., Collins, J. M., & Odders-White, E. (2015). Experimental evidence on the effects of financial education on elementary school students' knowledge, behavior, and attitudes. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 49(1), 69–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12058t
- Becchetti, L., Caiazza, S., & Coviello, D. (2013). Financial education and investment attitudes in high schools: Evidence from a randomized experiment. *Applied Financial Economics*, 23(10), 817–836.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09603107.2013.767977

- Berman, J. Z., Tran, A. T. K., Lynch Jr., J. G., & Zauberman, G. (2016). Expense neglect in forecasting personal finances. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 53(4), 535–550. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.15.0101
- Brown, M., Grigsby, J., Van Der Klaauw, W., Wen, J., & Zafar, B. (2016). Financial education and the debt behavior of the young. *The Review of Financial Studies*, 29(9), 2490–2522. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhw006
- Brüggen, E. C., Hogreve, J., Holmlund, M., Kabadayi, S., & Löfgren, M. (2017).Financial well-being: A conceptualization and research agenda. *Journal of*

Business Research, 79, 228–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.03.013

- Bucher-Koenen, T., Lusardi, A., Alessie, R., & van Rooij, M. (2017). How financially literate are women? An overview and new insights. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 51(2), 255–283. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12121
- Bumcrot, C., Lin, J., & Lusardi, A. (2013). The geography of financial literacy. *Numeracy: Advancing Education in Quantitative Literacy*, 6(2), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.5038/1936-4660.6.2.2
- Busk, P. L. (2014). Causal-comparative study. Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online, 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118445112.stat06191.pub2
- Butrica, B. A., & Karamcheva, N. S. (2019). Automatic enrollment and its relation to the incidence and distribution of DC plan contributions: Evidence from a national survey of older workers. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(3), 1192–1219. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12223
- Carvalho, L. S., Meier, S., & Wang, S. W. (2016). Poverty and economic decisionmaking: Evidence from changes in financial resources at payday. *American Economic Review*, 106(2), 260–284. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20140481
- Cherokee Nation. (2019, June 4). *Common questions*. https://www.cherokee.org/aboutthe-nation/frequently-asked-questions/common-questions/
- Chin, A., & Williams, A. K. (2020). Take-up of financial education: Demographic characteristics and prior knowledge. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 39(3), 319–333. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12031150

Clark, R., Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2017). Employee financial literacy and

retirement plan behavior: a case study. *Economic Inquiry*, 55(1), 248–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecin.12389

- Cole, S., Paulson, A., & Shastry, G. K. (2014). Smart money? The effect of education on financial outcomes. *Review of Financial Studies*, 27(7), 2022–2051. https://doi.org/10.1093/rfs/hhu012
- Cole, S., Paulson, A., & Shastry, G. K. (2016). High school curriculum and financial outcomes: The impact of mandated personal finance and mathematics courses. *Journal of Human Resources*, *51*(3), 656–698. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.51.3.0113-5410R1
- Collins, J. M., & Odders-White, E. (2015). A framework for developing and testing financial capability education programs targeted to elementary schools. *Journal of Economic Education*, 46(1), 105–120.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00220485.2014.976325

- Ćumurović, A., & Hyll, W. (2019). Financial literacy and self-employment. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(2), 455–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12198
- Dewees, S., & Mottola, G. (2017). *Race and financial capability in America: Understanding the Native American experience*. FINRA Investor Education Foundation. https://www.usfinancialcapability.org/downloads/Native-American-Experience-Fin-Cap.pdf
- Dholakia, U., Tam, L., Yoon, S., & Wong, N. (2016). The ant and the grasshopper: Understanding personal saving orientation of consumers. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 43(1), 134–155. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucw004

Djimeu, E. W., & Houndolo, D. G. (2016). Power calculation for causal inference in social science: sample size and minimum detectable effect determination. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 8(4), 508–527.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/19439342.2016.1244555

Farrell, L., Fry, T. R. L., & Risse, L. (2016). The significance of financial self-efficacy in explaining women's personal finance behaviour. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 54, 85–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joep.2015.07.001

- Fernandes, D., Lynch, J. G., & Netemeyer, R. G. (2014). Financial literacy, financial education, and downstream financial behaviors. *Management Science*, 60(8), 1861–1883. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2013.1849
- Finke, M. S., Howe, J. S., & Huston, S. J. (2017). Old age and the decline in financial literacy. *Management Science*, 63(1), 213–230. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2015.2293

FINRA Investor Education Foundation. (2020). Data and Downloads. National Financial

Capability Study. https://www.usfinancialcapability.org/downloads.php

- Frączek, B. (2014). Main purposes and challenges in the financial education of financial consumers in the world. *Journal of Economics & Management*, 16, 27–43. https://www.ue.katowice.pl/en/units/journal-of-economics-and-management.html
- García, M. R. (2013). Financial education and behavioral finance: New insights into the role of information in financial decisions. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 27(2), 297–315. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6419.2011.00705.x

Geddes, S., & Steen, T. (2016). The argument for teaching financial literacy at higher-

education institutions. *Michigan Academician*, *43*(3), 349–365. https://doi.org/10.7245/0026-2005-43.3.349

Grable, J. E., & Rabbani, A. (2020). Are Americans financially illiterate? *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 74(1), 11–14. https://national.societyoffsp.org/

Grinstein-Weiss, M., Guo, S., Reinertson, V., & Russell, B. (2015). Financial education and savings outcomes for low-income IDA participants: Does age make a difference? *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 49(1), 156–185. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12061

- Grohmann, A., & Menkhoff, L. (2015). School, parents, and financial literacy shape
 future financial behavior. *DIW Economic Bulletin*, 5(30/31), 407–412.
 https://www.diw.de/de/diw_01.c.375799.de/publikationen_veranstaltungen/publik
 ationen/diw_economic_bulletin.html
- Grubert, E. (2019). Every Door Direct Mail in US survey research: An anonymous census approach to mail survey sampling. *Methodological Innovations*, 12(2), 1– 12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2059799119862104
- Hanson, T. A., & Olson, P. M. (2018). Financial literacy and family communication patterns. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Finance*, 19, 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbef.2018.05.001

<sup>Harvey, M. (2019). Impact of Financial Education Mandates on Younger Consumers'
Use of Alternative Financial Services.</sup> *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(3), 731–
769. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12242

Hastings, J. S., Madrian, B. C., & Skimmyhorn, W. L. (2013). Financial literacy,

financial education, and economic outcomes. *Annual Review of Economics*, *5*(1), 347–373. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-economics-082312-125807

- Henager, R., & Cude, B. J. (2016). Financial literacy and long- and short-term financial behavior in different age groups. *Journal of Financial Counseling & Planning*, 27(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1891/1052-3073.27.1.3
- Hensley, B. J. (2015). Enhancing links between research and practice to improve consumer financial education and well-being. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 26(1), 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1891/1052-3073.26.1.94
- Hibbert, A. M., Lawrence, E. R., & Prakash, A. J. (2012). The role of financial education in the management of retirement savings. *Journal of Behavioral Finance*, 13(4), 299–307. https://doi.org/10.1080/15427560.2012.735727
- Hubler, D. S., Burr, B. K., Gardner, B. C., Larzelere, R. E., & Busby, D. M. (2016). The intergenerational transmission of financial stress and relationship outcomes. *Marriage & Family Review*, 52(4), 373–391.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01494929.2015.1100695
- Jobst, V. J. (2012). Financial literacy education for college students: A course assessment. Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice, 12(2), 119–128. http://www.na-businesspress.com/jhetpopen.html
- Kaiser, T., & Menkhoff, L. (2019). Financial education in schools: A meta-analysis of experimental studies. *Economics of Education Review*, 101930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2019.101930

Kamakia, M. G., Mwangi, C. I., & Mwangi, M. (2017). Financial literacy and financial

wellbeing of public sector employees: A critical literature review. *European Scientific Journal, 13*, 233–249. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2017.v13n16p233

Kenny, D. A. (2019). Enhancing validity in psychological research. American Psychologist, 74(9), 1018–1028. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000531

Klapper, L., & Lusardi, A. (2019). Financial literacy and financial resilience: Evidence from around the world. *Financial Management*. https://doi.org/10.1111/fima.12283

- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2014). The economic importance of financial literacy: Theory and evidence. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *52*(1), 5–44. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2243635
- Lusardi, A., & Tufano, P. (2015). Debt literacy, financial experiences, and overindebtedness. *Journal of Pension Economics & Finance*, 14(4), 332–368. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1474747215000232
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2017). How ordinary consumers make complex economic decisions: Financial literacy and retirement readiness. *Quarterly Journal of Finance*, 7(03), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1142/S2010139217500082
- Lusardi, A., Michaud, P.-C., & Mitchell, O. S. (2017). Optimal financial knowledge and wealth inequality. *Journal of Political Economy*, 125(2), 431–477. https://doi.org/10.1086/690950
- Mandell, L. (2008). The financial literacy of young American adults. Results of the 2008
 National Jump\$tart Coalition Survey of high school and college students.
 Jump\$tart Coalition for Personal Financial Literacy. https://www.jumpstart.org/

- Marquart, F. (2017). Methodological rigor in quantitative research. *The international encyclopedia of communication research methods*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0221
- Marta-Christina, S., & Liana, L. M. (2013). A new challenge in EU: Effective financial education. Annals of The University of Oradea, Economic Science Series, 22(1), 551–560. http://anale.steconomiceuoradea.ro/en/
- Miller, J., & Ulrich, R. (2019). The quest for an optimal alpha. *Plos One*, *14*(1). 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0208631
- Mills, G., McKernan, S. M., Ratcliffe, C., Edelstein, S., Pergamit, M., & Braga, B.
 (2019). First-year impacts on savings and economic well-being from the assets for independence program randomized evaluation. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(3), 848–868. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12247
- Moreno-Herrero, D., Salas-Velasco, M., & Sánchez-Campillo, J. (2018). Factors that influence the level of financial literacy among young people: The role of parental engagement and students' experiences with money matters. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 95, 334–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2018.10.042
- Netemeyer, R. G., Warmath, D., Fernandes, D., & Lynch Jr., J. G. (2017). How am i doing? Perceived financial well-being, its potential antecedents, and its relation to overall well-being. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 45(1), 68–89. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucx109
- Powell, T. C. (2019). Can quantitative research solve social problems? Pragmatism and the ethics of social research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1–8.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04196-7

- Prawitz, A. D., & Cohart, J. (2014). Workplace financial education facilitates improvement in personal financial behaviors. *Journal of Financial Counseling and Planning*, 25(1), 5–26. https://afcpe.org/news-and-publications/journal-offinancial-counseling-and-planning
- Reich, C. M., & Berman, J. S. (2015). Do financial literacy classes help? An experimental assessment in a low-income population. *Journal of Social Service Research*, 41(2), 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2014.977986
- Rinaldi, E. (2016). The relationship between financial education and society: a sociological perspective. *Italian Journal of Sociology of Education*, 8(3). https://doi.org/10.14658/pupj-ijse-2016-3-7
- Ruberton, P. M., Gladstone, J., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2016). How your bank balance buys happiness: The importance of "cash on hand" to life satisfaction. *Emotion*, 16(5), 575–580. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000184
- Saboe-Wounded Head, L. (2014). Using active learning to teach culturally relevant personal finance to Native American students. *Journal of Family & Consumer Sciences, 106*(2), 22–26. https://www.aafcs.org/resources/publicationsproducts/journal-consumer-sciences
- Shefrin, H. M., & Thaler, R. H. (1988). The behavioral life-cycle hypothesis. *Economic Inquiry*, 26(4), 609–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-7295.1988.tb01520.x
- Skagerlund, K., Lind, T., Strömbäck, C., Tinghög, G., & Västfjäll, D. (2018). Financial literacy and the role of numeracy–How individuals' attitude and affinity with

numbers influence financial literacy. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 74, 18–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socec.2018.03.004

- Sovacool, B. K., Axsen, J., & Sorrell, S. (2018). Promoting novelty, rigor, and style in energy social science: Towards codes of practice for appropriate methods and research design. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 45, 12–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2018.07.007
- Tang, N., & Peter, P. C. (2015). Financial knowledge acquisition among the young: The role of financial education, financial experience, and parents' financial experience. *Financial Services Review*, 24(2), 119–137. https://academyfinancial.org/Journal

Tannahill, B. A. (2012). The role of financial literacy in retirement decision making. *Journal of Financial Service Professionals*, 66(2), 32–35. https://national.societyoffsp.org/

- Thaler, R. (1980). Toward a positive theory of consumer choice. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 1(1), 39–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2681(80)90051-7
- Thaler, R. (1981). Some empirical evidence on dynamic inconsistency. *Economics letters*, 8(3), 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1765(81)90067-7
- Thaler, R. H., & Shefrin, H. M. (1981). An economic theory of self-control. *Journal of Political Economy*, 89(2), 392–406. https://doi.org/10.1086/260971
- Thaler, R. (1985). Mental accounting and consumer choice. *Marketing Science*, *4*(3), 199–214. https://doi.org/10.1287/mksc.4.3.199

Thaler, R. (1987). The psychology of choice and the assumptions of

economics. Laboratory experimentation in economics: Six points of view, 99-130.

- Tversky, A., & Kahneman, D. (1992). Advances in prospect theory: Cumulative representation of uncertainty. *Journal of Risk & Uncertainty*, 5(4), 297–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00122574
- van Rooij, M. C., Lusardi, A., & Alessie, R. J. (2012). Financial literacy, retirement planning and household wealth*. *Economic Journal*, 122(560), 449–478. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2012.02501.x
- Wagner, J., & Walstad, W. B. (2019). The effects of financial education on short-term and long-term financial behaviors. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(1), 234–259. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12210
- Walstad, W., Urban, C., J. Asarta, C., Breitbach, E., Bosshardt, W., Heath, J., ... & Xiao,
 J. J. (2017). Perspectives on evaluation in financial education: Landscape, issues,
 and studies. *The Journal of Economic Education*, 48(2), 93–112.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00220485.2017.1285738
- Ward, A. F., & Lynch, J. G. (2019). On a need-to-know basis: How the distribution of responsibility between couples shapes financial literacy and financial outcomes. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 45(5), 1013–1036. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcr/ucy037

Warmath, D., & Zimmerman, D. (2019). Financial literacy as more than knowledge: The development of a formative scale through the lens of bloom's domains of knowledge. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 53(4), 1602–1629. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12286

- West, J. (2012). Financial literacy education and behaviour unhinged: Combating bias and poor product design. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 36(5), 523– 530. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1470-6431.2012.01118.x
- Xiao, J. J., Chen, C., & Sun, L. (2015). Age differences in consumer financial capability. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 39(4), 387–395. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12205
- Xiao, J. J., & O'Neill, B. (2016). Consumer financial education and financial capability. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 40(6), 712–721. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcs.12285

Xiao, J. J., & Porto, N. (2017). Financial education and financial satisfaction. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 35(5), 805–
817. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-01-2016-0009

Appendix A: Survey Questions

Thank you very much for participating in this research. • Please be assured that all of your answers will be completely ANONYMOUS and CONFIDENTIAL. Therefore, please try to answer these questions as openly and honestly as possible.

Are you a citizen of Cherokee Nation? YES NO

Please enter your 5-digit home zip code.

[____]

On a scale from 1 to 7, where 1 means very low and 7 means very high, how would you assess your overall financial knowledge?

Were you ever required to take financial education?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Was financial education offered by a school or college you attended, or a workplace where you were employed?

Yes, but I did not participate in the financial education offered

Yes, and I did participate in the financial education

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

When did you receive that financial education? (Select all that apply)

In high school

In college

From an employer

Other

In total, about how many hours of financial education did you receive?

1-2 hours

3-10 hours

More than 10 hours

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Overall, how would you rate the quality of the financial education you received? Please give your answer on a scale of 1 to 7, where 1 means "very low" and 7 means "very high."

What is yo	our gender?	Male	Female		
What is yo	our age?				
18-24	25-34	35-44	45-54	55-64	65+

Which of the following best describes your race or ethnicity?

Select all that apply.

White or Caucasian

Black or African American

Hispanic or Latino/a

Asian

Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander

American Indian or Alaska Native

Other

Prefer not to say

What was the highest level of education that you completed?

Did not complete high school

High school graduate – regular high school diploma

High school graduate - GED or alternative credential

Some college, no degree

Associate's degree

Bachelor's degree

Post graduate degree

Prefer not to say

What is your marital status?

Married

Single

Separated

Divorced

Widowed/widower

Prefer not to say

Which of the following describes your current living arrangements?

I am the only adult in the household

I live with my spouse/partner/significant other

I live in my parents' home

I live with other family, friends, or roommates

Prefer not to say

How many children do you have who are financially dependent on you or your spouse/partner? Please include children not living at home, and stepchildren as well.

2 3 4 or more No financially dependent children Do not have any children Prefer not to say

What is your household's approximate annual income, including wages, tips,

investment income, public assistance, income from retirement plans, etc.? Would you say it is...

Less than \$15,000

At least \$15,000 but less than \$25,000

At least \$25,000 but less than \$35,000

At least \$35,000 but less than \$50,000

At least \$50,000 but less than \$75,000

At least \$75,000 but less than \$100,000

At least \$100,000 but less than \$150,000

\$150,000 or more

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Which of the following best describes your current employment or work status?

Self-employed

Work full-time for an employer

Work part-time for an employer

Homemaker

Full-time student

Permanently sick, disabled, or unable to work

Unemployed or temporarily laid off

Retired

Prefer not to say

Which of the following best describes your spouse/partner's current employment

or work status?

Do not have a spouse/partner Self-employed Work full-time for an employer Work part-time for an employer Homemaker Full-time student Permanently sick, disabled, or unable to work Unemployed or temporarily laid off Retired Prefer not to say

Who in the household is most knowledgeable about saving, investing and debt?

You

Someone else

You and someone else are equally knowledgeable

Don't know

Prefer not to say

What was the highest level of education completed by the person or any of the

people who raised you?

Did not complete high school

High school graduate/GED

Some college, no degree

Associate's degree

Bachelor's degree

Post graduate degree

Don't know

Prefer not to say

On a scale from 1 to 7, where 1 means very low and 7 means very high, how would you assess your understanding of economics?

How much of your school's education (high school, college or higher degrees) was devoted to economics? A lot, some, little, or hardly at all?

Did any of the firms you worked for offer financial education programs, for example retirement seminars?

Yes	No	Not applicable	е.
How much hav	e you thought about	retirement?	
A lot	some	little	hardly at all?

Suppose you had \$100 in a savings account and the interest rate was 2% per year. After 5 years, how much do you think you would have in the account if you left the money to grow:

More than \$102 Exactly \$102 Less than \$102 Do not know

Suppose you had \$100 in a savings account and the interest rate is 20% per year and you never withdraw money or interest payments. After 5 years, how much would you have on this account in total?

More than \$200

Exactly \$200

Less than \$200

Do not know

Imagine that the interest rate on your savings account was 1% per year and inflation was 2% per year. After 1 year, how much would you be able to buy with the money in this account?

More than today

Exactly the same

Less than today

Do not know

Assume a friend inherits \$10,000 today and his sibling inherits \$10,000 3 years from now. Who is richer because of the inheritance?

My friend

His sibling

They are equally rich

Do not know

Suppose that in the year 2010, your income has doubled and prices of all goods have doubled too. In 2010, how much will you be able to buy with your income?

More than today

The same

Less than today

Do not know

Which of the following statements describes the main function of the stock

market?

The stock market helps to predict stock earnings

The stock market results in an increase in the price of stocks

The stock market brings people who want to buy stocks together with those who

want to sell stocks

None of the above

Do not know

Which of the following statements is correct?

Once one invests in a mutual fund, one cannot withdraw the money in the first

year

Mutual funds can invest in several assets, for example invest in both stocks and

bonds

Mutual funds pay a guaranteed rate of return which depends on their past

performance

None of the above

Do not know

If the interest rate falls, what should happen to bond prices?

Rise

Fall

Stay the same

None of the above

Do not know

True or false? Buying a company stock usually provides a safer return than a stock mutual fund.

True

False

Do not know

True or false? Stocks are normally riskier than bonds.

True

False

Do not know

Considering a long time period (for example 10 or 20 years), which asset

normally gives the highest return?

Savings accounts

Bonds

Stocks

Do not know

Normally, which asset displays the highest fluctuations over time?

Savings accounts

Bonds

Stocks

Do not know

When an investor spreads his money among different assets, does the risk of losing money:

Increase

Decrease

Stay the same

Do not know

If interest rates rise, what will typically happen to bond prices?

They will rise

They will fall

They will stay the same

There is no relationship between bond prices and the interest rate

Suppose you owe \$1,000 on a loan and the interest rate you are charged is 20% per year compounded annually. If you didn't pay anything off, at this interest rate, how many years would it take for the amount you owe to double?

Less than 2 years

At least 2 years but less than 5 years

At least 5 years but less than 10 years

At least 10 years

Don't know

A 15-year mortgage typically requires higher monthly payments than a 30-year mortgage, but the total interest paid over the life of the loan will be less.

True

False

Don't know

Overall, thinking of your assets, debts and savings, how satisfied are you with your current personal financial condition? Please use a 10-point scale, where 1 means "Not At All Satisfied" and 10 means "Extremely Satisfied." When thinking of your financial investments, how willing are you to take risks? Please use a 10-point scale, where 1 means "Not At All Willing" and 10 means "Very Willing."

Over the past year, would you say your spending was less than, more than, or about equal to your income? Please do not include the purchase of a new house or car, or other big investments you may have made.

Spending less than income

Spending more than income

Spending about equal to income

Don't know

Prefer not to say

In a typical month, how difficult is it for you to cover your expenses and pay all your bills?

Very difficult Somewhat difficult Not at all difficult Don't know Prefer not to say Have you set aside emergency or rainy day funds that would cover your expenses for 3 months, in case of sickness, job loss, economic downturn, or other emergencies?

Yes No Don't know

Prefer not to say

Have you ever tried to figure out how much you need to save for retirement?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

How confident are you that you could come up with \$2,000 if an unexpected need

arose within the next month?

I am certain I could come up with the full \$2,000

I could probably come up with \$2,000

I could probably not come up with \$2,000

I am certain I could not come up with \$2,000

Don't know

Prefer not to say

How would you rate your current credit record?

Very bad

Bad

About average

Good

Very good

Don't know

Prefer not to say

If you were to set a financial goal for yourself today, how confident are you in your ability to achieve it?

Not at all confident

Not very confident

Somewhat confident

Very confident

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you have a checking account?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you have a savings account, money market account, or CDs?				
Yes				
No				
Don't know				
Prefer not to say				
Do you overdraw your checking account occasionally?				
Yes				
No				
Don't know				
Don't know Prefer not to say				

Do you or your spouse/partner have any retirement plans through a current or previous employer, like a pension plan, a Thrift Savings Plan (TSP), or a 401(k)?

Yes No Don't know Prefer not to say Were these plans provided by your employer or your [spouse/partner]'s employer, or both?

Your employer Your spouse's/partner's employer Both your employer and your spouse's/partner's employer Don't know Prefer not to say

Are any of these retirement plans the kind where you or your spouse/partner get to choose how the money is invested?

Yes No Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you or your spouse/partner have any other retirement accounts NOT through an employer, like an IRA, Keogh, SEP, or any other type of retirement account that you have set up yourself?

Yes No Don't know Prefer not to say Do you or your spouse/partner regularly contribute to a retirement account like a Thrift Savings Plan (TSP), 401(k) or IRA?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

In the last 12 months, have you or your spouse/partner taken a loan from your retirement account(s)?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

In the last 12 months, have you or your spouse/partner taken a hardship withdrawal from your retirement account(s)?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Not including retirement accounts, does your household have any investments in stocks, bonds, mutual funds, or other securities?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you or your spouse/partner currently own your home?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you currently have any mortgages on your home?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you have any home equity loans?

Yes

No
Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you currently owe more on your home than you think you could sell it for today?

Yes No Don't know Prefer not to say

How many times have you been late with your mortgage payments in the past 12 months? (If you have more than one mortgage on your home(s), please consider them all.)

Never Once More than once Don't know Prefer not to say

How many credit cards do you have? Please include store and gas station credit cards but NOT debit cards.

2-3
4-8
9-12
13-20
More than 20
No credit cards
Don't know
Prefer not to say

In the past 12 months, which of the following describes your experience with credit cards? (Select an answer for each)

I always paid my credit cards in full

Yes No Don't Know Prefer not to Say In some months, I carried over a balance and was charged interest Yes No Don't Know Prefer not to Say In some months, I paid the minimum payment only Yes No Don't Know Prefer not to Say In some months, I was charged a late fee for late payment Yes No Don't Know Prefer not to Say In some months, I was charged an over the limit fee for exceeding my credit line Yes No Don't Know Prefer not to Say In some months, I used the cards for a cash advance

Thinking about when you obtained your most recent credit card, did you collect information about different cards from more than one company in order to compare them?

Yes No Don't know Prefer not to say Do you currently ha

Do you currently have an auto loan? (This does not refer to an auto lease).

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Do you currently have any unpaid bills from a health care or medical service provider (e.g., a hospital, a doctor's office, or a testing lab) that are past due?

Yes
No
Don't know
Prefer not to say

Do you currently have any student loans? If so, for whose education was this/were these loan(s) taken out? Select all that apply.

Yes, have student loan(s) for:

Yourself

Your spouse/partner

Your child(ren)

Your grandchild(ren)

Other person

No, do not currently have any student loans

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Before you got your most recent student loan, did you try to figure out how much your monthly payments would be?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

How many times have you been late with a student loan payment in the past 12 months? (If you have more than one student loan, please consider them all.)

Never, payments are not due on my loans at this time

Never, I have been repaying on time each month

Once

More than once

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Are you concerned that you might not be able to pay off your student loans?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

Have you been contacted by a debt collection agency in the past 12 months?

Yes

No

Don't know

Prefer not to say

How strongly do you agree or disagree with the following statement? Please give your answer on a scale of 1 to 7, where 1 = "Strongly Disagree," 7 = "Strongly Agree," and 4 = "Neither Agree Nor Disagree". You can use any number from 1 to 7.

I have too much debt right now

Appendix B: Lusardi & Mitchell Permission

Ron Pense Sat 5/23/2020 4:15 AM

To:

Distinguished Scholars Dr. Lusardi Dr. Mitchell

Hello. My name is Ron Pense. Presently, I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am currently working on my dissertation dealing with the effects of financial education for citizens of Cherokee Nation in Oklahoma. I am writing to you to inquire about obtaining permission to use your financial literacy survey questions as used in: Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2017). How ordinary consumers make complex economic decisions: Financial literacy and retirement readiness. Quarterly Journal of Finance, 7(03), doi:10.1142/S2010139217500082

Thanks, Ron Pense

Mitchell, Olivia Sat 5/23/2020 6:36 AM

To: Ron Pense Cc:

You have my permission as long as you credit the study you took the questions from.

Best of luck OSMitchell

Annamaria Lusardi Sat 5/23/2020 8:52 AM

To: Ron Pense

Cc:

Ron, sure. Just make sure you cite us properly anna

Appendix C: FINRA Investor Education Permission

From: Sent: Friday, May 22, 2020 3:58 PM To: Mottola, Gary < Subject: [EXTERNAL-WEB] Permission to Use NFC Study Questionnaires for Dissertation Study

05/22/2020 3:58 PM Date: First Ron Name: Last Pense Name: Email: Dear Gary Mottola, My name is Ron Pense. I am a doctoral student at Walden University. I am currently working on the proposal for my dissertation regarding financial education. I was wondering if I could obtain permission to use the NFC Study Questionnaires as part of my study to assess the impact of Message: financial education on the citizens of Cherokee Nation. My research design is a pretest-posttest design and I was wondering if it would be possible to use the questionnaires along with any general financial education brochure or something similar that could be used as the treatment. Thanks, Ron Pense

Mottola, Gary Tue 5/26/2020 7:48 AM

To: Ron Pense

Hi Ron,

Yes...you can use the questionnaire and any of the other resources you see on USFinancialCapability.org.

We only ask that you cite the FINRA Investor Education as the source of the questionnaire in any publications.

Your research sounds quite interesting.

Best regards,

Gary